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This is an oral history interview with General Vernon Walters,
Military Attache in Paris, France. The interview was done on
April 21, 1970, by Dr. John E. Wickman, Director of the
Eisenhower Library.

GEN. WALTERS: Well, I think the first time I ever saw

General Eisenhower was actually in Algiers. I was taking around,
at that time, a group of Brazilians who were an advance party

for a Brazilian division that subsequently came into that theater
and fought there. And the first time I saw him was an extromely
brief interview. We went into his office and 1 translated: and--
you know--it was pretty much--they were discussing the coming of
the Brazilian division and how it would be equipped and where it
would Fight and so forth; and it was the general agreement Chey
would come in the Mediterranean theater and they would fight in
ltaly. We knew then we were going to Italy while we were still
in Algiers. I guess it was December of 19--this was mid-Dacoember

of 1944; sorxy, "41.
DR. WICKMAN: '43.

GEN. WALTERS: "43, 1943, mid-Decenber. Then I did not sece him
again until, I guess, right after the war. Curiously, this same
Brazilian general who commanded the division in Italy was on tour
af the United States; and he was by this time chief of staff. And
I saw him briefly then, but I still didn't have any particularly
close association with him at that time. wWhere I really became

associated with him was in SHAPE. I had been working for
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Governor [Averell] Harriman here in Paris, and he went back to be
special assistant to Mr. Truman and I went back with him. 1I'd
been out of the United States continuously since 1942, and this
was 1948 which was six years, which I thought was a long time at
that time. And I was working in Che White House with him; and
Ceneral [Alfred M.] Gruenther came in who was going to be his
|Eisenhower's] chief of staff at SHAPE and who had been the chief
of staff in Ttaly to General [Mark W.] Clark, whose aide I was;
and he knew me from there., And he, I presume, wanted to have
whatever languages I speak at his disposal in Europe, s¢ first he
borrowed me for General Eisenhower's initial exploratory trip.

He went arcound in Januvary of 1951, He went to fourtesn HATO
countries, a very good trip; I think there was something like
fourteen countries in thirteen days or some other slightly
mathematical formula of that type. And I was effectively borrowed
only for that trip, but shortly after I got back Governor Harriman
called me in. And he said, "General Eisenhower wants you to go
to Europe with him and set up the allied headguarters, and what
would you like to do?" And I said, "Well, frankly, I've been out
of the United States so long I'd like to stay here." 3And he
emiled and he =s=aid, "Well, frankly, Mr. Truman has told Ganeral
Eisenhower he can have anybody who wears a uniform. And your

choice is really not whether vou're going or not; it's whether
¥ g
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you're going guietly or whether they drag you screaming. And.

"he said, "frankly, for your career, it's better if you go quietly."
On this adwvance trip I had played bridge a great deal on the air-
plane with Douglas MaechArthur the Third, the general's nephew, who
was subseguently his [Eisenhower's] pelitical adviser at SHAPE;

and we would play against General Eisenhower and General Gruenther
with the catastrophic results that you can imagine. And I don't
care, you know; MacArthur and I held every carxd and every finesse
worked; we'd only lose by 300 points, because in my opinion——and

I am not downgrading General Gruenther who is a marvelous bridge

player--I think General Eisenhower is just as good a bridge player

as General Gruenther. Now & lot of people won't agree, but my
experience in plaving with them is that he was. At the end of
that trip, as I was leaving, evidently they'd said something about
my bridge playing because as I left Mr. Harriman gave me a package
as a farewell gift; and when I opened it, there were five books by
Goren on bridge in it. Well, I never played bridge again if T
could help it after that. This was a traumatic experience to play
against a combination of General Eisenhower and General Gruenther.
Well, on that trip, obvicusly, translating for him and being at
hiz side all the time, I was in fairly close contact with him by
the simple nature of things. Sometimes before a meeting he'd tell
me what he was really trying to drive home, so that regardless of
what his words were I could see what the real basie idea he was

driwving at [was] and make what he was saying.
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WICEMAN: This is one area that I'd like to have you bring out.
On an operating basis how did this work ocut? FHow did this association
with General Eisenhower work out? ¥You came in every morning at a

certain time--ztarted out with him that way.

WALTERS: Well, on a trip, of course, there was so much time on the
airplane. HNHe, I d4id not go in every morning. Sometimes he would

do this and sometimes he would not. If it was a real meeting of
substance, he would generally brief me on what he was trying to do
before so that I could so shape his woerds in the other language as

to direct them in the direction they were to go. Many peocple think
translation is mechanical:; if vou really don't know what the person's
intentions are, it's rather hard te do. No, usually on the trip
around it would be in the airplane. Afterwards, when I was in SHAPE

with him, it would be sometime before the meesting.

WICKMAN: During these meetings was there a give and take? Did he
try to get from you some particular linguistie peculiarity that

wounld add to what he wanted to do?

WALTERS: IT there was something about which there had been
discussion, he'd say, "What do you think he really thought? How
do you think he reacted to that?" And often he would ask me for

my evaluation of personality.
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WICEMAN: Were you the only person; did he have staff, or, how was--

WALTERS: WMo, I was the only person who provided this particular
service. This was not a full-time job when I was in SHAPE by any
M2Aans. I worked for the Executive to the National Military
Representaktive, who was General Turner Bittel; and the same was
true when he was president. I was over at the NATO Standing Group.
And when he had some particular visitor who spoke a language which
I could handle, I was summoned over to the White House,;, or I would
go on the trips with him which he took abroad. But, of course,

this was not a full=-time job: I had other things to do.

WICEMAN: While he was in the White House, were you in Washington

all that time?

WALTERS: No, I did not come back to Washingtom till 1956. Buk,

for instance, prior to that, I believe, there was the first Bermuda
Conference, which was either '53 or 'S4-=I'm not sure. I was called
back for that, and then I'm not exactly sure whether [at] the

Geneva Confercnce I was already back or I went from there. I have

a feeling I was already back in the United States for the Geneva
Conference, which was the big four: +the Soviets, the Franch, the
British and us. [Wikita 5.] Khrushchev--and [Marshal Gugori X.]

Zhukov was there.



Gen. Vernon Walters, 4-21-70 Fage &

WICKMAN: Let me ask you another guestion. You say you wWere at
formal meetings. You just mentioned somewhere there were three,
four, fiwve, six, or seven people. Were you at many meetings whare

thero was just the President or--

WALTERS: Yes, and then, of course, my job was to write the minutes.
At every mesting I ever had with him alone, 1 wrote the minutes.

I don't know where those records are now, but I think you could

find--
WICEMAN: Thev're in Abilene, most probably.

WALTERS: --you could find a large number of pages written by me.
Usually, what would happen, say, when he went to a country as
Supreme Commander is he might call on the president briefly alone,
and I would go in with him, Then there would be a meeting with
the president, the prime minister, the defense minister, and the
fareign minister and other specialists—--or just plain military;
and, of course, that somebody else would be the official recorder.
I would translate what was said, but zomeone else would do the
official recording when he was present. I used to do the trans-
lation and the notes. And, in fact, this was the most tedious
part of the trip to me hecause sometimes he would see three or
four perscnalities in a day, and sometimes he'd be in twe countries

in a day. And I had no opportunity to write. When everybody else
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went to bed at 12:30, that's when I went down te the embassy and
got three secretaries and dictated and corrected the final thing
until about 5:00 o'clock in the morning; and baggage pickup was

at 6:00 o'clock the next morning. And, for instance, on the

South American trip, where I spoke all bthe languages invalved;

it was really bad. In Europe, occasiocnally, we'd go to S0me
country that I didn't speak the language of, and 1'd get a little
rest where I could do this. But in South America, where I spcke
both Spanish and Portugese, I was involved in every one of these
things. And try to keep three or four conversations in your head
and remember who said what is guite difficult. I never took notes
during small conferences because it frightens people. In fact,

that's the way it is with NHixon now.

WICKEMAN: This is another one of those things the General told ma
about you the last time we met in 1968 and 1 proposed this trip
was the fact that, in addition to your other abilities, you've
got a phenomenal memory for this kind of thing. 2And this was one

of the things that impressed him very much.

WALTERS: He mentioned it in his book--one of the two books. 1
don't know which one it was. But you know he had a tremendous
memory. The first time I ever went to Greece with him, Xnowing

hiz interest in things historical, I really boned up; and sure
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enough, as the airplane cirecled in for a landing at Athens, he said,
"Come over here; where is Salamis?" I said, "Tt's right there.
That's where the battle was fought." He said, "Tell me what was

the name of that island in the middle of the straits the Persians
ocoupied the night before the battle?" I said, "Payttaleia,
General." [Laughter] You know, he was really shocked. He said,
"How do you know that?®" I said, "General, I know you; I boned up
before we got here."

When he went to Brasilia as president, I went on the advance
party; and in the presidential palace there's this inseription in
large gold letters--the whole interior wall of the palace. It was
a phrass that was spoken by the president of Brazil who founded
Brasilia, [Juscelino] Kubitschek, when he turned the first shovelful
of earth. And, really, it was written for him. His ghost writer
was a poet, the greatest of modern Brazilian peoets, Augusto Frederico
Schmidt. But it really had the most Churchillian resonance in
Portugese. Well, I just knew he was going to ask me what it said.
Sa I copied it down, and I worked up an English translation that T
thought had a little bit of the same sound to it. BSure encugh,
when he got there, he said, "What does it say?" 8o I said, "Well,
this is what the President of Brazil said when he turned the first
shovelful of earth for Brasilia in the midst of this nothing--it's
|

‘outhack'." He said, "What does it say?" "Well," I said, "it says
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this: ‘'Here on this high central plateau, in the midst of this
loneliness, the tomorrow will be the center of our national life.
i have cast my eyes onoe again towards the tomorrow of my country,
and I face that oncoming dawn with unbounded faith in 1ts great
destiny.'" He locked at me; and he =said, "Can you do that, just
like that?" And I said, "Ho, Ganeral, I rehearsed that one."

He said, "Why did you rehearse it?" I said, "Because I knew you

waere going to ask me."

WICKEMAN: That's an interesting point. How many other things like

that did you have to know about--

WALTERS: Many, many. When you went anywhere, vou--I-—had to know.
For some reason he turned to me, not Ffor the everyday briefing,

but for things like this. You know, he'd pass a statue, and he'd
say, "Who was that? What did he do?" So I had to be fairly well
up on Horwegian history and Portugese history and other things—
this was the sort of thing he sort of expected me to know. He
knew I was interested in history: I knew he was interssted in it.
5o befere I went to any of those countries with him, T did my

homawork.

WICKMAN: Were yvou on the twenty-seven nations trip he made as

President?
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WALTERS: Yes. You see, in all of those places I was useful to him.
For instance, in Afghanistan, the king spoke perfect French, so I
translated. And I remember at the dinner the Soviet Ambassador,
who was too far down the table to hear what was being said, looking
up at me and shaking his head and wondering where the americans had
discovered a colonel who could speak that obviously fluent Afghan,
not realizing that what we were speaking was French. [Laughter)

I did French for him with [Hahib] Bourguiba, and I did French for

him wilth Mohammed the Fifth in Morrocoo.

WICEMAN: What were the most--in this particular kind of work,
working with General Eisenhower--what was the most difficult parkt
of it for you, do you think, aside from, you know, physically,

the notes when no one—--—

WALTERS: That was the only difficult part. The famous Eisenhower
temper I never saw. But I saw--not really in the form of which
peaple talk about it--but I saw it once. And perhaps this is the
one thing I should have expected, but with the passage of time

and everything I think it doesn't make any difference. When NATO
was set up, we set up a southern headguarters at Verona, which

was a command given to the Italians. When Greece and Turkey came
inte the alliance, they were very anxious not to be placed under

that Italian command, the Greeks--who had just finished having a
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war with the Italians and so forth--particularly. So there was a
great tug of war., The end result, as you know, was that they set
up the Scutheast Command at Smyrna--at Izmir--in the end. But the
Greeks and Turks had a sort of feeling weé were trying to put them
under the Italians, and the Italians had the feeling we were trying
to prevent the Greeks and Turks from being put under them. And the
Italian defense minister, [Handolfo] Pacciardi-—-we were coming back
from Greesce and Turkevy——-and he wanted to talk to General Eiszsenhower;
s0 we made a stop at Naples just long enough to go into town, talk
with him, and go back out to the airplane. And Pacciardi said,
"Well, you know when you move into a house and the whole structure
is there, you don't start tearing out the rooms and refixing the
house. Now this NATO structure existed before; and if the Greeks
and Turks come in, they have tbto fit in with it." And Eisenhower
said, "Well, but they =zay they don't want to." And Picciardil said,
"Well, you know, they indicate that the opposition is not really
there." And General Eisenhower got very angry, and he said, "Well,
if they =say I'm the one that's doing it, they're not telling you
the truth." And he got red in the face; and he got really angry,
the angriest I think I'wve ever seen him. And the whole thing
sounded as if I had mistranslated what he had said, so I was
considerably crest fallen. But eventually Paceiardi gave in and
agreed to the setting up of the separate headguarters in Izmir.

And we got back on the airplane; and we all got on ahead of him;
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and I was sitting in the compartment up front; and he came up freont
and tapped me on the shoulder; and he said, "Den't look so sad.®

He said, "if I pretend to think you mistranslated, that isn't what

happened. It's just every now and then you've got to get a peg to

hang your anger on, and as you saw, it worked.” [Laughter]

WICKMAN: That's very interesting because thers are some other
people who have made statements like that, too, about--vou know--
how he would become angry with reason behind it all. It's a good
peint. Another area I want to ask you about is this: in talking
to people who were with him at SHAPE we Ffreguently stress the
point that this was a new activity, NATO was new, that it was

making a new concept--

WALTERS: Well, without dercgating any of his successors, soms of
whom were extraordinary men, the day General Eisenhower left SHAPE
it was never the same again. He had an ability to infuse into
pecple a sense of mission which has not been egualed by anyone

else I've ever known in my lifetime.

WICEMAN: Was it his personality, or was it the way he approached

the problems-—

WALTERS: It was the force of his personality, I think his cbviocus

sincerity, and the fact that while he was in Valhalla he was =still
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there too. But there was something of a missionary zeal and spirit

in SHAPE in his time that was never quite there again. HNow General
[Alfred M.] Gruenther was undoubtedly one of the most brilliant, if

not the most brilliant, human being I've ever known: he was tremendous,
And probably from the purely intellectual point of view, SHAPE had
been at a higher level under him than at any other time. Mavybhe in

the head, but not in the heart. You krow there wa= an aura about
"Eisenhowar the Liberater of Eurcpe" which never really left him.

¥You know, when he died, sort of by a curious coincidence I was

down with the French--I'm afraid I'm jumping areound too much.
JumnpIng

WICKMAN: No, go ahead, that's all right, that's fine.

WALTERS: I was down eating with the French mountain division,

and I broke my leg at 4:00 o'clock in the afternoon. I had
invited the entire staff and divizion Lo dinner that night.

And it was a titanie effort, but I gave the dinner with a wet
plaster that night. Aand in the middle of the dinner I heard that
he'd died, and I left that night. And the next morning I came
back to Paris, and I spoke on the French television. They knew
that T had been close to him, and they had a news reel and every-
thing. And at noon that day I left for the United States; and I
went through that whole funeral on crutches with a darn dry cast--

on which I could put no weight--it was an enormous effort. I had
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seen him one month hefare. I think the last £ime I saw GCeneral

Eisenhower was around the twenty-eighth eor ninth of January.

WICKMAN: I think that's right. We have the appointment books,

and I think that's right.

WALTERS: And, you know, I found him extraordinary. He told me he
knew he did not have long to live, but he said, "How can I complain
when all the daydreams of my wvouth have been fulfilled?" You know
1've rarely seen anybody with that kind of serenity and know that
when he was dyving that he did not have wvery long to live. It was

a most beautiful, impressive thing.

WICKMAN: Yes, this is prefectly true. In one sense I--there was
a couple of times, myself, because I was, in '66==in '66 I worked
very closely with him. His standard toward the end made it a

great deal easier in many ways for ewverybody.

WALTERS: You can tell what day that was, and T don't think it was
thirty days before he died. I saw him at Walter Beed, and I don't
think it was thirty days before he died. And the doctors told me
to stay only a short time. S0 in fifteen minutes I got up to
leave. And he said, "I know they told yvou to leave, but," he =aid,
"I don't see you that often; and it's such fun talking to an old
friend. 8it down." And he won the argument with the doctor, I

staved.
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WICKMAN: You were present when he talked with both aAdenauer and
DeGaulle on various occasions. How did he get on with these two

p&rsanalities?

WALTERS: Yes., Well, of course, I could spend a day with vou on
Just his relationship with General Da Gaulle. I think it could
be summed up in something De Gaulle szaid to him. He said, "¥You
know, we are two old generals who have written our memoirs. And
in spite of the fact that we had a lot of contact, neither of us

ever said anything unkind abeut the other."
WICEMAN: Did he make this statement, well, what, what,——

WALTERS: He made the statement as they both sat in dressing gowns
and slippers in front of the fireplace at Rambouillet Castle about
sixty miles southwest of Paris in what was to me one of the most
Extraﬂrdinary evenings of my life. Here were these two men
reminiscing about the waxr: "What did you think of so and so?

And what did you--did you know that we were to land that day?"
"¥Yes, I did; I figure you didn't tell me because Rocsevelt wouldn't

Let you."
WICEMAN: Well, what year was this about?

WALTERS: This was his last official wisit to France. Tt was
gither "60-='"%9, I think it was late '59 or '60. I'm not sure.

You can check this. It was late '59 oxr '60.
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WICEMAN: I was wondering: was there ever in this association with
De Gaulle--were there any changes from the end of the war period on

through the presidency?

WALTERS: I don't think so. There was always a spacial bond between

thenm.

WICKEMAN: Sort of rapport there.

WALTERS: There was a kind of rapport between them. It was a VEery
strange thing. There was a rapport between them. I remember T
came back here after I was here; and I saw General De Gaulle:; and
he said, "Did you see General Eisenhower?®" aAnd I said, "¥Yeg "

And he =zaid, "What 4id he say?" And 1 felt the urge surge in me

to tell him what he'd said, and T thought I've just got to do it.

I said to him, "Mon Generale, he asked me if by chance I saw you"
--I didn't want him to presume to think that I, the defense attache,
would see the chief of state—-" he said if by any chance T saw you,
would T convey to you his friendship, affecticonation and admiration
as always, even though he doesn't always understand everything
you're doing.” De Gaulle laughed; and he said, "I know, but betwesen

soverign natiens these things happen.”

WICEMAN: This is what I was really getting at I think: the
question of the official position of each man in the conference-—

as ocpposed to the personal--



Gen. Vernon Walters, 4-21-70 Page 17

AALTERS: Yeah. You asked me about the cfficial and personal
relationship. I would say in the case of those two men the personal
relationship overrode at all times--including when they were both
Presidents-—-any official relationship., In 1952 General Eisenhower
was here at SHAPE, and he was going home. He had announced that

he would accept the Republican nomination; and many people had been
trying to get him toc see General De Gaulle. But this was a very
difficult thing to do because General De Gaulle at that time was

the head of the opoosition. General Eisenhower was living in
quarters provided to him by the French government, and it was very
difficult to find out some way in which he could see De Gaulle
without offending the Freneh gevernment. And this problem was finally
solved by Admiral [Thiery de] Argenlieu, who was the Grand Chancellor
of the Order of Liberation, of which GSeneral Eisenhower was the

only foreign titular. And he gave a dinner-«a luncheon-—-at the
hotel, at the headquarters of the order on the Rue Francois Premier--—
in other words—-here--Francis T. And he invited a number of the
great dignitaries of the order. As T remember he had there himself,
Marshall [Alphonse] Juin, Ceneral [Fierre] Koenig, a Mr. [Andre]
Ponlatowski, and General De Gaulle, General Eisenhower, and

myself. I was the only non-titular of the order there, and I

was there for obvicus reasons. And as we walked up the steps he
introduced me to General De Gaulle; and General De Gaulle looked

at me; and he said, "But I know Colonel Walters. The last time
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T saw him was in General [Mark] Clark's wvan in Italy at Raccastrada
where we were discussing the withdrawal of the French forces from
italy for the landing in the south of France." I mean this was
incredible performance of memory; it was just unbelieveable. They
talked a little bit at the meeting; and then they went back on the
porch; and General De Gaulle said to him, "The time i=s coming when
you will be called to the government of veur counbtry and I will be
called to the government of mine"--which was highly improbable in
his case at that time. General Eisenhower-—-vou could see it. And
he said, "We must always maintain the relationship we have together
for the good of our twe countries." And they always did. I remember
in discussing the nuclear weapons-—well, perhaps this is one of the
dreas you may want to hold for a little while or attend to in a
little while. General De Ganlle said, "Look, I cannot entrust the
survival of France as a nation to an unknown successor of YOours.

I have no doubts about your credibility, with vour relationship
with us, if you would do what had to be done. But when the day
comes and the Russians achieve the ability to strike your cities,
some unknown successor of yours may not be willing to destroy the
great cities of America to save France." He said, "Just as you
wounld not entrust the survival of the United States as a nation

£o my unknown successor, you cannot expect me to do it to yours."
He said, "You tell me I need no atomic weapons; but if yvoun don't

have them, you don't really count, do you?"
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WICEMAN: How did General Eisenhower take this kind of--

WALTERS: He said, "Well," he said, "you know, we have the McMahon
hct that prevents us from disclosing these things to you."

General De Gaulle made a plea, saying, "Look, I can't accept the
fact that you think it is dangerous for me to have something that

is known to a thousand Soviet corporals." General Eisenhower said,
"Well, of course, you know my hands are tied by the McMahon Act."

De Gaulle said; "That's a law. I changed the constitution of
France." But ultimately General Eisenhowsr was basically unsympathetic
to these arguments. Frankly, he preferred to be blunt. I think he
understood De Gaulle's reason; but, whether he agreed with it as an
American or not, I think he understood it--the Frenchman's form of
reasoning in Lhis respect. Of course, what cbsessed De Gaulle is
that we thought it was all right for the British and Soviets to have

it but net for him--which to him was totally intolerable.
WICEMAN: Yes, well then the other—-

WALTERS: But this discussion between them never became acrimonious,
nor did I ever hear a dart passed one way or the other--vou know, a
sort of needle or anything else. And De Gaulle is given ta rather
caustic speech at times. I'll never forget what he said when
General Eisenhower arrived here at le Bourget on that wvisit. He

greeted him at the foot of the ladder, and he said what he said
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in French first. And before I translated I knew it would move
General Eisenhower wvery much, both as to content and the Fact that
De Gaulle was not a man who normally threw away bouguets or said
nice things to people just to hear himself talk. He held out his
hands like this--outstretched towards Eisenhower; and he said,
"How welcome you are. Whatever may happen in the future, you will
for us forever be the Generalissimo of the Armies of Freedom." I
just saw the tears start in General BEisenhower's eyes. Because in
his darkest heart I think this is to him the greak moment of his
life--even greater than being President of the United States—-:
the fact that he had led the army that liberated the Continent.
There have been thirty-seven Presidents of the United States:

there has been only one liberator of Europe.

WICKMAN: Were you there when General Eisenhower went to Churchill's

funeral?

WALTERS: No, I did not go. I was last in the jungles of Brazil
that day, and I was ecrossing--1 was going to the back lands. I
was in a truck driving the Peruvian border which is 2700 miles
from Rio. I won't say it's on a road because it wasn't a road.

An old man came up; and he said, "You'we just lost a great man,

a great man." And I said, "What happened?" He said, "Churchill
has died." I said, "I'm an American.” He said, "¥ou hawve lost
a4 great man." I understood what he meant; we had all lost a great

AT -
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WICKMAN: What were you doing in Brazil at that time?

WALTERS: I was defense attache then. ©Oh, I forgot. No, no.
The place I really got to knew General Eisenhower--I completely
lost my thread. In 1946 General Eisenhower cama to Brazil as

chief pf staff, and I lived with him for two weeks in the most
close proximity. I went up to Belem to meet him in northern

Brazil: and I flew down to Ric; and I briefed him; and T lLived
with him, you know, in the house and everything Lor about two

weeks; and this is where I really got to know him.

WICKMAN: So this was the first time, for any leagth of time after

the Algerian——

WALTERS: After the Algerian--purely perfunctory thing. I don't
even think he knew my nams. This was the first time that I really
——woil know--I mean I was with him and with her day and night and
evervthing else. They were in the goest house; and I lived in

the guest house with them; and thiszs iz where I really got to

know them. You see almozt nobody spoke Portugese in those davs.

I had practically a monopoly on the market. [Laughter]

WICEMAN: How many langonages oo you speak?

WALTERS: I speak eight.
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WICKMAN: Well, I'm glad we got that point out.

WALTERS: No, no, this is right about the first part of our

relationship. It was in Brazil.

WICEMAN: &S0 there was no--on the SHAPE period then—--thare is

nothing=-

WALTERE: No, I knew him well enough that I'd go home to dinner
and sit around while he and Mamie would talk and everything slse--

you Xnow. I mean I'd already developed--

WICEMAN: HNo, I mean in SHAPE.

WALTERS: HNo, I did not know him in SHAPE then.

WICKMAN: You ware in London--=

WALTERS: No, in fact I remember I was--we took Rome the day bhefore
the landing. I was aide to General Clark, and during the night I
heard the German radio announce landings. 2And I weondered whether

I should go in and wake up General Clark or not, and I decided

that T wouldn't. When I told him in the morning, his comment was,
"The sons-a-bitches. They wouldn't let us have a headline for even
one day." It was the fall of Rome, page five, column six. But I
can remember 1 woke up about 3:00 o'clock in the morning; and I

turned on this radioc. We'd moved into the Excelsior Hotel that
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night. It was the first time I slept in a building in & long time.
I turned on the radio, and I heard the German radio blowing this
bugle call that announce a spegial bulletin. And I listened to it
and I heard the German announcer say, "In the last half hour very
heavy allied airborne landings have begun on Cotentin penninsula.
The invasion fleet was approaching the coast, and the batteries of

the aAtlantic Wall will open fire." That was the end of the bulletin.

WICEMAN: S0 now we have--we'wve established the Braszil period;

and then after that period--then the next would be——

WALTERS: Becduse at Brasilia the Brazilian welcome was almost
hysterical--it really was. The welcome we got was just beyond

belisf,

WICEMAN: Why, do you think?

WALTERS: There was an aura about the man. There was an aura
abouat the man that hever really =ettled. You know, az familiar

as I got with him, I never forgot this. You know, he was the
Liberator of Europe; and he was the President of the TUnited States
~=1 mzan. You know I've one marvelous incident that shows the
human side of the man. 1In 1954 I had a very bad skiing accident.
I was over here——I was in SHAPE =still=-=-; he was back and he was

president. This dragged on for about a year. I had to have other
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operations and bone grafts and everything else, and finally it
healed. And about 1956 they put a metal rod in the canal of the
bone to hold all the pieces together, and it healed and everything
was great. But they told me T should take it out because it wasn't
good to leawve a foreign ohject 1like that in there that long. Seo

I went into Walter Reed. And I saw him intermittently; I didn't
see him continuously. I was working over at the Pentagon. And I
don't know whether I told him or [Cel. Robert] Schulz told him, or
somebody told him I was in Walter Reed. 1 was in a very nice room
with bwo obther lisutenant colonels: I was a lisvtenant colonel at
the time. And I'd had the operation; and everything was going
fine; and one day in came this enormous bunch of flowers with a
card saying, you know, "Best wishes--get well svon--TIke and Mamie."
S when I got out of the hospital, I thanked him for this; and he
sald, "Tell me, after they brought you the flowers did anything
happen?" and I said, "0Oh, ves; within ten minutes I was moved

into a private room." [Laughter] He grinned and he said, "You
know, I didn't want to ask for special treatment for you, but I
kind of fioured something like that would happen"--you know, which

was the enormously human side of the man.

WICKMAN: That's his way, too.
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WALTERS: Which is an enormously human side of the man. When I was

up for promotion to full colonel, the board was meeting; and this
was all I knew, you see. And De Gaulle was there at that time=-no,
this was after, no, in fact, well, that's another story. The board
was meeting. So one day I went in to see him. I don't know who was
there-—the prime minister of Lebanon and saomebody who spoke Franch
from Moroeco or some non-French francophile. And they moved on;

and he looked up to me, a twinkle in his eye; and he said, "What
about that promotion board? Have you heard anvihing?" And T said,
"Well, I heard they finished their work, but I don't know who they
recommenéed.” And he grinned; and he said, "Don't tell anybody I

told you, but you made it." [Laughter]

No, then the day I became a full colonel, General De Gaulle
was in Washington. And he had been in General Eisenhowsr's office
that morning, and they'd had z long talk. &And at the end of the
talk General Eisenhower opened the door, and he said, "Teday
Colonel Walters became a full colonel. I'm going to pin one of
the =agles on him. General, he's worked a lot for you this morning;
you pin the other one on." So I had the rather unigue experience
of having my eagles pinned on by General Eisenhower and General
De Gaulle. That afterncon General De Gaulle--who three YEALS
before had given me a cigarette case--when T saw him that afternoon,
he gave me a gold cigarette lighter; and he said, "Now, Walters,

you who do not smoke, you have everything you need.”
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WICKMAN: This is another--could be another--voint, too, which I've
found very interesting, and there's no way to corroborate except by
your testimony in a way unless we get somebody in the French govern-
ment.  But when General Eisenhower met with De Gaulle, did the

French have any translaters in the room?

WALTERS: Yes, they did. They did, but several times General De Gaulle
said, "I prefer to be alone." He dismissed the French translator--

in fact which happensd to Mr. Pompideau on his las trip. At one
point he wanted to talk about something very, wvery confidential, and

he asked the French interpreter to leave--which was rather awkward

for me. [Tlaughter]

WICKEMAN: Very interesting. It's interesting. I can see in

De Gavlle's case now--you were talking to him—-—

WALTERS: 1In fact I thought this was the greatest marvelous compliment

I ever got from De Gaulle.
WICKMAN: Yes, I would =ay so.

WALTERS: But, of course, De Gaulle understands enough English to

know whether I was twisting what he'd say.

WICKMAN: That's a good point also.
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WALTERS: I'we heard him many times correct his interpreters--even
in a lot of the shaded meanings. I have a feeling that he had Very

great comprehension.

WICKMAN: I would have suspected that just outside-=-

WALTERS: Nobody lives unmarred four years in London---.

WICEMAN: Yes, that is what I would suspect, too. Let's skip over

for a minute to Adenauer. What kind of situation do you have--

Adenauer opposed to EBisenhower?

WALTERS: I think he felt very close to Adenauer in many ways.

I think Adenauver's standards and his standards were very close to
one ancther. He felt a certain moral, almost religious, kinghip
with Adenauwer although he was Presbyterian and Adenausr was a
Catholic. First of all, I think he was a little bit intrigued in
dealing with somebody who was that much older than he was: and
gecondly, in dealing with somebody who had been an enemy, Bot I
think he held Adenauer in very great esteem. Adenauver was his kind

of people--as to the general moral walues and things like that.

WICEMAN: And this was reciprocated by Adenauer?

WALTERS: Yes, I believe it was.
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WICEMAN: Tt's interesting that in some ways they both have a
similar position--different but nevertheless both with an aura of

leadership,

WALTERS: When you talk about the "iron chancelloer" of the Germans
teday, they're not talking about Bismarck any more. The chancellor

——he had a special rapport with Adenauer.

WICHMAN: Were there other people that ¥You noticed General Eisenhower

had this with--other heads of state sver Ehe YEArs?

WALTERS: Well, you know, vyou knew him, and you know the extra=-

ordinary sincerity--sven in wvain. You never-=-vou could see
General Eisenhower doing samething wrong but doing something really

crafty or underhanded--1 don't, I don't think so.

WICEMAN: I was just wondering how other personalities responded

to him,

WALTERS: Well, of course, I mean--to be blunt--anyhody who could
talk to him in English had an advantage. You know the British
had Churchill, MacMillan, and people like that. They had an
sdvantage by virtue of the fact that he could--he had real direct
human contact with them., I'm trying to think, as we went around,
¥ou know, whether there was anybody who really had that kind of

thing with him. He had an excellent relationships with, you know,



Gen. Vernon Walters, 4-21-70 Page 29

the French government and everything; but I don't think he had gquite

the same human relationship he had with De Gaulle,

WICEMAN: Well, what was from the--from the--

WALTERS: You know the wartime people he knew in wartime had a

special aduﬁntageu—ﬁacMillan, De Ganlle,

WICKMAN: Were there any of their successors who were able to get

close to that--come close ko that?

WALTERS: I'm trying to, you know, think back in my mind's eye of
the pecple that I saw him--that he saw. I can't--T wouldn't--gsay
S0.  You know; the leaders of the Scandinavian countries, and the

Low Countries, and Italy and Greece and Turkey--I don't think——

WICEMAN: There was one particnlar Frenchman--I ecan't ramembor—-
who seemed to have a particular relationship-~became finance

minister of France.

WALTERS : [Rene] Pleven or [Jules] Moeh?

WICEMAN: Monnet, Jean Monneb?

WALTERS: Jean Monnet?

WICHMAN: Yes.
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WALTERS: Well, I don't think he became finance minister. He was

in a sense one of the fathers of the Buropean Community. Yesz, I
think he got aleng with Monnet; but to be blunt, I think he respected
Monnat more than Monnet respected him. Monnet is wvery much of an
intellectual, an intellectual snob:; and I just don't think he thought
any military man could possibly be really intelligent at his level.

I once had a Frenchwoman say to me--she was locking for a guotatioen,
and she couldn't reméember who it was--: and I said, "It was

Jean Jacques Rogseau." And she looked at me; and sha said, "You
know, a cultured general is an upsetting experience.” And there is

a great deal of that over here. Y¥pu know, "He's a general; there-
fore he's stupid." In fact not only over here but in the United
States there was a sort of "he can't possibly be intelligent; he's

a4 general; he's got to be stupid."

WICKMAN: I see. That's an interesting thing again in connection

with De Gaulle moving into the premiership.

WALTERS: 1 would say they were two intelligent generals who

recognized the other's intelligence.

WICEMAN: And somstimes very carefully estimated the opposition

oo,
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WALTERS: But there was a warm relationship right to the end.
General De Gaulle told me before General Eisenhower died that he

would go--which was premeditated. He knew he would go.

WICEMAN: Let's sea, I knew Lhere was reason to do these things

in sets because thare—-

WALTERS: The whole thing--the series of things that occurred to
me that I remember today and I won't remember tomorrow. Just like
this Brazillian phenomenon--I mean I weould have passed that over

completely, you know, and not remembered ik.
WICKMAN: Yes, and it's extremely important because-- .

WALTERS: Where you got to where I established a perscnal, non-

official relaticonship, you know. ©Oh, but I must tell you another
==these are--I'm telling you some of these things not because they
have really historical walue per se, but because they show a facet
of the man. When General De Gaulle was in Washington, there were

a series of receptions and a couple of white-tie dinners.
WICKMAN: This would be during the Presidency?

WALTERS: 1860. And there was one more reception that De Gaulle
was going to give him at the French embassy, and someone said to
me, "You won't be going to that: he's taking one ¢f the military

aides.," 8o I zaid, "Great." At about 4:00 o'clock in the afternoan
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I got a phone call saying, "No, you're going te that with him.®
50 I went home, and I was loaking for my white tie thing, which
you don't wear that often, vou know. My mother said, "There isn't
any. You told me yvou didn't have any more this week, and I sent
them all out te the laundry." By this time it was about 6:00
o'clock at night. The stores were closed. I =aid, "Well, my God,
what am I going to do? I've got to be thers at 7:20." So T called
up stores and nothing deing. So I was in despair. T called up
John Eisenhower and said, "John, well have you got anythingz"

He said, "I'm not going to it. TI'm going somewhere alse." He

said, "Come down here. Maybe we'll get you one; maybe one of
mine will fit you." So I go down to the White House; and I go in
the West Executive Entrance and go up. [John] Moaney is the one
who greets me and John Eisenhower. And we look and John Eisenhower
wears a fifteen, and I wear a sixtesn and a half. So he wore a
fifteen and a half, and I wore a sixtesn and a half. But really

it was too constricting; I couldn't have done it. So we looked

all over and all over and nothing doing on the third floor. And
then Moaney said, “Well, come down and let me see if, you know,

the president doesn't have something that's closer to your size

in something down here." So we want down to the second floor,
which is the living part of the White House; and as the elevator
door opened there stood General Eiszenhower fully dressed with the

grand sash of the Legion of Honor and everything else on hiin.
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And he looked at me; and he grinned; and he said, "1 understand Vol
have a problem." &And I said, "Mr, President, vou will understang--"
He said, "This is the funniest thing I've ever heard." And T said,
"Mr. President you will understand that being the wviectim of it, I
don't share your amusement," He said, "Come with ma. TLet's sse
what Wwe can do." So he said, "lere, let me show you something.

I wear a fifteen and a half; Jdehn wore a fifteen; and T wear a
fifteen and a half." And he said, "When I was a youny officer, I

found out how you solwved this problem." He said, "You =ee this

hole. Now you take a nail file; and,™ he said, "you file it out
of one side about a guarter of an inch. " Ha said; "wyou file it on
the other side a quarter of an inch. You mustn't tear it; cause
if you tear it, it'll tear all the way through." And he reamed it
out from each side; and he handed it to mey and he said, "Tey that.,"
It was a little tight, but it fit. He said, "Well, that solves
Your problem." 8o I said, "Yes, Mr. President, but frankly, I've
never had my problems solved at khis level before." [Laughter]
Yes there was an extracrdinary human guality in that respect.

You know, he came in there, and he was reaming away--President of
the United States, master of the bombs--with a little nail file,

reaming out this--the eye hole in the cuff,

WICKMAN: This is something that also I think we're going to have.

You know it's going to take a long time to gather all that information.
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WALTERS: As I say, that story--it's a tremendous story to me. It
has no real historical effect except that it indicates that this

man was never that far away from real practical problems.

WICEMAN: And also the view he had of the affice. You know, that
he didn't--didn't wear this all the time. This wasn't--he hadn't

bean forced inte some kind of mold and so-forth.

WALTERS: No, well, you see, he was one of the very few men who
got into that office, you know, already being a tremendous figure
in his own right, already being a world figure before he got there.
You know, because even, say, somebody whoa's been Vice-president
like Mr. Nixon or Mr. Johnson--they're not really a world figure

by virtue of that, whercas he was the number-cne-level world figure
before he got there. And then he had ecertain innate dignitys:

mean noboady tapped him on the stomach or peked him in the ribs,

WICKMAN: Ho, no! And I've said frequently, too: you always knew
who was in charge. WNow this is a very subtle thing, really. TIt's

not something that-—-

WALTERS: Another little anecdote. I think one of the few times T
ever--one little thing that bothered him was this business of
getting in airplanes last. And on that first trip arcund in '51
we stopped in Rome. Now he loved General Gruenther: General

Gruenther was one of his dearest and elosest friends. And 1 would
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astay with him [Eisenhower] wntil the last minute at the foot of

the gangplank to say goodbye to everybody and translate; and then
when T saw he was ready te go, I just went up the ladder ahead of
him. PBut he was very punctilious about everybody bkeing on the
airplane ahead of him. And General Gruenther, of course, had

faund all of his old Italian buddies from World War II, and they
were hugging and embracing and everything else. And General
Eisenhower was standing there, and I could see, you know, that this
was not the most successful operation General Gruenther had conducted.
5o finally he [Eisenhower] looked at me; and said, "Get up on the
aircraft.” T went on board the aircraft, and he was right behind
me. He said, "Sit down on the sofa in back of the aircraft." 5o

I sat there. And I could see he was, you know, irked. B8So finally

General Gruenther came in, you know; and Eisenhower looked at him.

And he said, "Gruenther,"--it's the only time in my life T ewver
heard him call him anything other than Al--he said, "Gruenther, 1f
you're going to work for me, there's one thing you're going to have
to learn right now. Everybody else gets on the aircraft ahead of me.
When I get on, the door closes; and the aircraft leaves; and anybody
who isn't aboard is 1left behind.™ I doen't think General Gruenther
was ever in doubt again. And yet I heard General Eisenhower once

say that if he had no other claim to fame, the fact that he had
consecutively selected as chiefs of staff Bedell Smith and

Al Gruenther would entitle him to good marks in that area.
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WICKMAN: That's a fantastig--

WALTERS: I suppose you'wve talked at great length to General Gruenther.

WICEMAN: OCOh, ves,; vyes.

WALTERS: He was enormously close to him.

WICKMARN: Well, General Gruenther is really-<he and I have become

very close too in this—-

WALTERS: I think you appreciate what I mean when I say he was one
of the most brilliant minds that I have ever known, if not perhaps
the most brilliant. I don't know how, you know, the passage of
years has affected him. I mean the years I knew him he was just

extraocrdinary.

WICKMAN: No, the passage of years hasn't done any damage there.

1t now comes in flashes, though. T think he was probably more
consistent when he was younger. But every now and then, you know,

you get these flashes of where you can sse the encrmous intellect
that he has--really gyreat, very competent. I was watching several
discussions in connection with the National Trust that kind of

orove a point that it is interesting to wateh with the National Trust.

He'll let these people Tun just so far and then--
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WALTERS: 1In a loud pinging note he will retake contrel if necessaryl

WICKMAN: --and move it where it should have been, you know, fifteen
minutes ago, He does this, and noboedy ever gets upset really begause

it's just the right moment.

WALTERS: 1T would think that probably the time which I was in SHAPE
——and even as President——he was more at ease and more at home with
Gruenther than almost anyone else. He was sensitive, you know, Lo
things--military cronies and all that; and that probably prevented

him from appointing Gruenther to a position of great responsibility.

WICKMAN: TIt's rather an interesting period when General Gruenther

came back and was over at the head of the Red Cross—-

WALTERES: Everyvbody thought he was going to be secretary of state.
He got a lot of negative reactions in Congress, you know. 1 think
he may have put out feelers. I don't know-—-cne or twa things, you

ko

WICKMAN: Well, we'll get there. TIf T remember wWrong--or maybe not
--go back a little; but wasn't there some of this when Beadell Smith

was over in the State Department? You know he was-=-

WALTERS: Well, but it still in the, you know, pro-millitary euphoria

or the past-war pericd; the gold and brass hadn't rubbed off as mach.
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WICKMAN: I mean I thought maybe there was a rumbling--

WALTERS: Well, there was--obviously there was--obviously there was

somz., T mean I didn't know Bedell Smith as well as I knew FEisenhower.
I thought Bedell Smith was a tremendous driver and tremencous officer,
but I had relatively little contact with him. I would not put him on

the same intellectual level with General Gruenther.

WICKMAN: Did you have much contact ocutside of just social with

General Eisenhower in the post-presidency?

WALTERS: Well, I'd go up and see him from time to time; you know,
I'd go up and see him. You know, we'd reminisce and talk about

things and stay to lunch there--things like that.
WICKMAN: But there's ne, no—-

WALTERS: No, vou see, I was out of the United States during that
whole period. The only time I was here was when I came back on

trips because, you see, I went abroad in August of '60, which was
before he left the presidency; and I have not yet returned to be
stationed in the United States. 1 went from, then, the United States
to Italy to Brazil to Vietnam to hers [Paris]. Se I would see him
only when I went back on trips, and I would try when I got hack to

go up and see him at least once. You know, we'd talk about various
things and so forth. &nd when I was here, as I say, he'd accasion=

ally give me messages of this type to General De Gaulle and asked
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me how things were going in France--you know. You know, you have

this popularized, New York Times type version of General Eisenhower:

ari amiable boob. Well, when I remember the penetrating guestions
he would ask me about French political figures--you know as recently
as a year or two baefore his death--it just doesn't match the Hew York

Times View.
WICKEMAN: No, this is the thing—-

WALTERS: This is true of Italy also. After T went to Italy I came
back once when he went to Mexico to see the President of Mexico.
nnd boy, he just flipped me over saying--how this man retained in
his head; you know, he was dealing with about 118 countries or
whatever there was in the United Nations--how about &, how about B,
how absut C, how about D, what's the influence of this, what's the
coupling of these two people. This business that he never read a
newspaper and didn't know what was going on--it's just balderdash.
This man was enormously well informed, and he had a phenomenally

retentive mMemory.

WICKMAN: How did--let's try it on the Russian side--how did this

qo?

WALTERS: Well, I think that he always Felt that he had a certain

relationship with Zhukov, but I think again that--
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WICKMAN: Similar to that of the old comrade in arms?

WALTERS: Yes, similar to that, but, of course, he always-—you know
--he told me cnce how he asked Zhukov how they dealt with a mine
field. And Zhukov said they just ordered the first wave through,

and a large number were killed. They ordered the second wawve through:
a smaller number were killed. &And by the time they got to the fourth
wave they had a passage. Well, you know, this kind of lack of regard
for human life was simply horrifying. But I remember he once told me
that the most difficult decision he had to make in the whole war was
not the decision of the landing but the decision of dropping Lthe
airborne troops the night before. All his experts told him he would
have casualties upwards of fifty percent, and he said this was really
—he just wrestled with this with his conscience. But he felt that
he could--the operation--could not be a success unless these airborne
landings were made behind the Germans. And the hardest decision he
had to make was the decision to send those three airborne divisions
that night. And, of course, casualties were nothing remotely
approaching the horrifying figures that all the experts had told him
he would have. I remember him telling me that. He said, "That was
the hardest decision I had to make: to send those young men to where
it appeared to be half of them would be killed or [inaudible]. And
yet all of the planners said the operation cannet succeed unless this
airborne operation takes place behind the beach." I saw him onece
after "The Longest Day" came out. And in "The Longest Day," you

know, he's supposed to have said: "We'wve got to go because the troops
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have been in the boats for forty-eight hours, and they can't stand
any more.” He said, "That's the silliest thing I ever heard.”  le
said, "1'd have left them on the boats for forty-eight days if need
be." He said, "We went that day because that was the day to go;
and we'd have to wait a month; and we didn't know what was coming;
and we didn't know what was in the warheads of the V-1; and we knew
they were close to coming.”

I cnce asked him who he thought was the greatest German general
-—this is a personalized note; and he said he never fought against
[Erich von] Manstein. He said [Erwin] Rommel was 3 great tactician,

but [Gerd von] Rundstedt was the greatest strategist.
WICEMAN: Well, the Russians--let's get back for a momant.

WALTERS: Yes, the Russiang. I didn't have too much becaunse T didn't
speak Russian at the timae, so I didn't have too much rapport. I was
at the villa in Geneva when Ehukov came to see him, and it was a
friendly enough meeting. The only thing I can remember--the Russians
-~-that I had any part in was at the Geneva conference when he made
his "Open Skies" proposal. He wound up this thing wvery eloguently

by saying, "This iz a guestion of belief and trust, and I would do
anything--anything--to prove to you our sincerity." &And at that
moment there was a tremendous elap of thunder, a flash of lightning,
a clap of thunder. Ewvery light in the building went out, and he
locked up and he grinned and he said, "Gee, I didn't think it weuld

have that effect." [Laughter]
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WICKMAN: The "Open Skies" proposal is a very good point. As a
matter of fact, I want to ask you because you were there-—-because
you were able to converse with other people from other nations-—-:

how did-—-at the time--how was this proposal received?

WALTERS: Well, I think the British and French and most of the
Americans thought it was a great idea; but I think no one had any
illusions that the Russians with their passion for secrecy would
ever accept it. It was perfectly obvious there that Khrushchev
was the boss. Bulganin was technically the head of the delegation,

but I've seen him just push Bulganin aside and talk to him.

WICKMAN: How did, well you weren't, did you say you--—

WALTERS: I was not privy to the American--

WICHEMAN: You were not privy, yeah. I've often wondered how
Eisenhower did get on with--you know, as far as personalities go

--with, say, Ehrushchev because this is--

WALTERS: ©Oh, I think he got along guite well with Khrushchev.

1 think Khrushchev understood him. I think he had a fairly happy
personal relationship with Ehrushchev although he had ne doubt in
his mind that Khrushchev would like to bury him if he could. I
heard one story. I don't know whether this is true or not; I can't
vouch for its authenticity because I can't clearly remember whether

he told me or somebody else told me; maybe I shouldn't tell you that;
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but that is the truth. And that is that when they were coming back
in a helicopter from Andrews--either going or coming--it was close

to one of the rush hours--either morning or afterncon--Khrushchewv
looked out of the airplane--and, of course, there were millions

cars on the road--and Washington is a city of small homes; and he
=zaid, "What a waste! What a wastel!” And Eisenhower said, "What
waste?” And he said, "All of those people riding to and from work

in private cars--they should be riding buses and saving gasaline.
And, he said, "all those people living in private houses when they
should be living in apartment houses and saving land for agricultural
production." &And as I remember this General Eisenhower said,
"agricultural productionf Don't talk to me about agricultural
production.” He said, "We'we both got an agricultural problem. Yours
is shortages, and ours is the surpluses for which we pay a billlon
dellars storage a year. But, he said, "you know our people want

to drive their own cars:; and our people want to live in individual
homes; and in our system we try and give our people what they want
rather than tell them what's good for them." And Ehrushchev said,
"Well, my people don't want private automobiles." General Eisenhawer
said, "If vou really believe that, I don't know how long you'll
oeeupy your job." I can't remember whether that's a "heard" story.
It's lost in the haze of my mind. I ecouldn't truthfully tell you
that he told me: I'm not sure who told me. Tt was interesting.

It's a great, great example of basic philosophy combined with that
dry humor, you know, that--"don't talk te me about agricultural

production,” you know, "it's coming out of my ears!" [Laughter]
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WICKMAN: Yes especially in the second Eisenhower administration.
WALTERS: I'm afraid I'm digressing a lot because I jump around--
WICKMAN: No, no, that's all right,; everybody doesd.

WALTERS: Ewveryvbody does? %
WICKMAN: Yes.

WALTERS: I thought yvou would have some marvelously organized minds.

We just start ocut and flow smoothly in chronoclogical seguence.

WICKMAN: One of the most interesting things is that the many

people who are not close to General Eisenhower—-many people who were
not--people who were down the line a ways--when you interview somes
of these, sometimes they are the ones who can do this. They do it
because their work or their routine was such that it ran in a
straight line; and if you start them off, then they'll just go

right on through it. When they come to the end, that's all there
i5. But anybody who had a close contact or anybody whose work was
as yours was is bound to do this because things keep coming up--

thay surface--you Know.

WALTERS: What I'm trving to do frankly a little bit is--I know you
know all the historical data and all the factual data--is to
illustrate the man a little bit with perhaps things I alone saw or

knew.
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WICEMAN: Which is exactly what we want.

WALTERS: There is no nse telling yvou what he looked like or how
tall he was or how he walked or anything like that. I mean this

yvou know about a thousand times better than I do.

WICKMAN: That's right, that's the—-

WALTERS: What I'm searching my memory for is things that somecne

else might know about.

[Interruption] P

WALTERS: Two people for whom I think he had considerable admiration
and even affection were De Gaulle and Adenausr. Thess wers Ewo
people who-=I think he realized General De Gaulle was a proud,
unreasonable man, but I think he cowld not help but admire him for
hiz [inaudiblel as a man [inaudible] the steadfastness in his faith.
and he was very much admired right up to the end. I mean the last
time I saw him he said to me, "Have you sScéen General De Gaulle?
Give him my warmest regards" and So forth. Although he disagreed
with De Gaulle on many things, I think the arguments I mentioned
that De Gaulle had used in connection with atomic bomb made a deep
impression on him. I think he thought General De Gaulle was a

really great man.
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I think he thought Adenauer was a great man. Although, as I
say, he had this great war against the Germans, I think he saw in
Adenauer the capability of the German pecple to develop a democratic
government; and he saw a great steadfastness and resoclution in this
man and a personal inteqrity which appealed to him. I think the
integrity of the man's life was an important thing in his relation-
chip with General Eisenhower; and there was that integrity in
De Gaulle's life and there was that integrity in Adenauer's life
that appraled to him very much.

With the British he had an almost family relationship--with
someone like MacMillan I mean who was not really like a foreigner
to him--but particularly MacMillan with whom he had been closely
associated during the war. In regard to other statesmen, I think
—-and again I'm expressing my view of what his thought was, but he
didn't put it in gquite these blunt words--I think he thought Hehruo
was a colorful but unrealistic figure. And I believe I recall one
story that he told me; I'm pretty sure that he told we this. But
Nehru was telling him once how he and his sister had laid down in
the road in Amritsar in 1919 to stop the British tanks and that the
British tanks had stopped. And Eisenhower said to him, "You realize
that if the tanks had belonged to some other country, they might not

have stopped."
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WICKMAN: That's a very interesting story.

WALTERS: And as a matter of fact in the original trip, the explor-
atory trip for SHAPE in 'S1, we came out of the Claridge's lotel;
and there was NWehru in a bowler hat with an umbrella over his arm
and looking more like a British gentleman, than any British gentle~-
man. And he was really embarrassed. You know this was the height
of the Communist wave of propaganda: General Eisenhower was coming
to Europe to set up aggression against the Soviet Union and all of
this business. And Nehru was really enbarrassed at baing seen in
the street. General Eisenhower was in uniform; he was coming out;
he was gaing to soma British--some British thing--some

meeting with the British. But Nehru was then at the height of his
neutrality flip. This was before the Chinese Communist had giwven
him the back of the hand. He was really guite embarrassed. It was
in the car after that as I reecall that General Eisenhower told me
this story of when he had been at Columbia, Nehru had come to sce

him: and he told him this at that time.

Let me see if I can--he was very impressed with the persconality
—-I'm not saying the politics—-of General Franceo. When wa went to
see General Franco, General Eisenhower asked him for his estimate
of what was happening in the communist world. 2And he had the same
impression that I did: I mean Franco did this completely dispas-
sionately without any heat or anger or anything else. &and as we

came out he said something or other: "it was hard to helieve that
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he fought a war against those people on the soil of his own country
for three years." He talked about it--Franceo talked about it--in a
completely detached, non-agitated fashion. You would have expected
more passion from a Spaniard to begin with and even more =o from one
who had been involved in a war against people he regarded as
Communists which the Soviet Union undoubledly was assisting. Let

me see who slse.

WICKMAN: That's funny, I was going to ask you about Franco the

other day. I was wondering what the--if you could dredge up any

impressions of that particular part of the trip in Spain.

WALTERS: Of course, one of the impressions of the trip was that,
you know, at the time he went to Madrid a lot of people--or the

opposition in Spain--and, you know, to be blunt, people like the

ArE e i L P

the opposition had put out the word that nobody should go as a sign
of the oppositicn to Franco. Well, of course thers were more people
in the streets than the population of Madrid. One of the things
that amused me was this big edificio espana, which is about a
thirty—-two story building. They had lighted the windows to form

the letters, I-K-E. And, of course, there was an absolutely a
phenomenal welcome., And when they'd got to the Castellana, both

he and Franco got out of the car and went to see the mayor. And

I mean the crowd was all around them there. &And again, I always
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give a personal impression. And the next day I read Marguis Childs
account; and it said, "Last night General BEisenhower enkered Madrid
under &ullen skies with small crowds held back by huge forces of
police." And I couldn't help taking him to task. And he said,
"Well, that's the way it looked to me." But T said, "You were in
the town behind 1t." [Laughter]

T think he had considerable respect for France as individual.
Again, in Franco's 1life there was this same kind of integrity.
Whether you like him or not politically, I mean there's no scandal
of any sort in his life. &And I think that was--well, T remember in
connection with that, I remember in the early days of SHAFE he gave
a luncheon. And he had some French politicians in there; and I'm
pretity sure it was Guy Mollet, who was one of the leaders and
subsequently Prime Minister of France, who was holding out on the
fact that Spain should not be brought into NATO and that Spain was
a Fascist dictatorship and that Spain was this, that and the other.
And Bisenhower said to him, "But if the Germans are fifty miles
from Paris and there were ten Spanish divisions available, vou
wouldn't want to use them?® And the guy—-I don't remember the
reply, but it wasn't much. He elther nodded or shrugged or some-

thing elsa.

WICKMAN: I was wondering in this reception in Spain if again--

was just the Spanish reaction or people's reaction to Eisenhower?
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or was it the fact that the, in & sense, the ice in a very cold

eituation had been broken by his coming?

WALTERS: I think it was somewhat of both. In fact, I'11 tell you

a story that involved me personally in this cennection, and I don't
know whether this really had any influence in it or not. But I went
over to see Jim Hagexrty before the trip; and ha was describing the
itinerary to mej and then he said, "Then we'll go to Paris: and then
from Paris we'll Tly to Morrocco." And I said, "Do I understand
corractly that the President is going Eo visit Morocco which is
throwing us out of the bases and overfly Spain which is letting us
stay?" And Jim Hagarty sald that "Spain is 2 military dictatorship.”
I said, "what de you think pakistan 15?7 What do you think
afghanistan is? What do you think Turkey ig2?" And I said, "we're
going to all of them!™ Well he didn't say anything, but the next
srhedule I Saw contained a stop in Madrid. Now whether that had

any influence on it or not I don't know. This was before the

pecember 1959, the big trip out to Tndia, pakistan, and all that.

WICEMAN: ‘Twenty-—s3cvel nations.

WALTERS: Yes, right. But you =€e there is in Spain a very hard
core of opposition to Franeo. 1711 be honest with you. T Was in
spain. I lived in Spain just before the Civil War, and had I bean
a Spaniard--I am not a Fascist; I am not a rightest: I do not

believe in un-demscratic forms of government. But if I had the
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slternative on which side I would have fought, I wouldn't hava
hesitated for one minute: I would have fought on France's side.
I am not totally objective or unprejudiced about this. I have
friends—-I have connections in Spain and eéverything else. In my
cpinion the Spanish Civil War was the first prelude to the great
assault of the West--which deoesn't mean I endorse everything
general Franco has done; which doesn't mean 1 am a Falangist or
anything else. But you k¥now it reminded me very much of & friend
of mine when it was geoing on here [in Paris] in May, 15968.

Finally the day came. You knew they had this big demenstratien

which inwvolved a million people ocut here, and I went that night
to a restaurant which is owned by a friend of mine who is very
anti-Gaullist. And while I was sitting thers, he sneaked in with
a flag in his hand, sort of wrapped it up rather sheepishly, and
put it in the corner. I said, "Where have yeou been?" "Oh," he
said, "I have been down to the Champs Elysees." 1 said, "I thought
vou were against the general." He said, "I am, but in the light of
the alternative that was offered to me I went out and demonstrated
for him." B&nd there is a little bit of that; I mean people talked
as though there was really a democratic alternative passible in
Spain. There wasn't. There was the possibility of General Franco
or communist dictatorship: those were the twe alternatives that
were present. Aand I may be wrong, but--I may be putting words in

his mouth--but I talked to him [Eisenhower] about Spain on a numbar
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of occasions because I'm interested in it. T don't think his view
was very far from this. It wasn't a perfect government; it wasn't
the kind of government we'd want or anything else for ourselves;

but I think he thought that in the possible alternatives i1t was--

WICKMAN: This was something, of course, that comss through over

and over again with General Eisenhower.

WALTERS: For a long pericd of time you get this thing. You don't
get a flat statement of these things but you get some little remarks

and things as you go along.

WICKMAN: Dealing with this idea, dealing with the world as it 1is,

with what--as opposed Lo=-=

WALTERS: Exactly. With the world of reality as opposed Lo the
world that would be, or we would like the world to be. I think
I heard him once s5ay that we have to deal with the world the way
it is rather than the way we would like it to be and the important
thing is +o recognize the difference. ¥You know, not to take cur
desires for reality, which is an important factor.

In Italy, of eourse, there wasn't any~--in the early days I
think he had great admiration for [Alcide] De Gasperi, you know,
who had brought Italy up frem the ashes of defeat and so forth.

But in the time when he was president, Gasperi was already gone;
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and there was a series of different political figures, not really
large ones. I mean there were people like [Amintore] Fanfani and
[Mario] Scelba. Both came to the United States, and both of whom
I tranalated for with him in the United States. One man I rememnber
he had scome admiration for was [Guisceéppe] Pella, who was minister
of the treasury in Italy for a leng time. I think the thing he
admired about Pella was Fella about 1948 as finance minister, or
minister of sgonomy--national economy--had sst the lira at 625 to
the dollar. And he had been in every government for about fifteen
years, but the one thing that he just held fast as a rock to was the
lira at 625 to the dollar. &nd I might add that twenty-two years
later the lira i=s at 625 to the dollar. [Laughter] Let me see who

clae.,

WICKMAN: Well, another think I was going to ask you: Did--was

there any occasion gduring tha Susz--—

WALTERS: ©Oh, I got to--I just thought of one. HNo, I wasn't around
during the Suez crisis. In fact, I was not in sympathy with what
our government did at the time of the Suez crisis. T thought it
was a bad mistake, and I thought it was opening the door in Africa.
I told this to Hagerty--I didn't get to tell it to the President--I
told it to Hagerty. I said it was in a sense opening the door of

Africa to the other side. They were up against a NATO alliance;
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and not being able to go through it without provoking general war,
they did what every commander has done since the dawn of history
when he comes up against a line he can't cross: he tries to out-
Elank it.

But I must kell one I remember wvery distinectly. He went to
Germany the day of the ¥ew Hampshire primary--again I'm jumping
around in time, and you can eventually resplice this. And I was
the only person who went with him., I don't know how this happened
--I can't remember how this happened-—-that I was the only person
who went with him from Paris to Germany. You kneow, it's curious.

T mean usually there were several people. You know, there was the
chief of staff or the chief of operations—-somebody. I don't Know

how I was the only person who went with him that day. And everyday
everywhere kept handing me the latest bulletins from the New Hampshire
primarcy, which, of course, he was winning handily. As far as I knew,

he was supposed not to ke interested in it, and finally on the way

back in the airplane I gave him the latest bulletin. I said,
"Seneral, I probably shouldn't do this; and I know you're not
interested in it; but anyway," I said, "hers it is." He looked at
it; and he locked up; and he grinned; and he said, "Well," he said,
"any American whe didn't feel proud if that many of his fellow
countrymen felt that way about him would be a difficult guy to
understand.” He grinned than, and he realized the situation 1I'd

been in, vou know, with this thing too.
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I remember one day [inaudible] and he finally announced that
he would acecept the Republican nomination; and an announcement was
to be made at SHAPE by General [Charles Trueman] Lanham, who was
the chief of public information. And I was to make it in French
because there was an encrmous press corps out there, and everything
was done in both languages and so6 on. So the appointed tims came
and no Ceneral Lanham, no General Lanham, no Geéneral Lanham, no
General Lanham. And General Lanham was usually very prompt abaout
these things, and then I was very puzzled. Finally aboub twenty
minutes later General Lanham came out holding his hands like this
across his stomach. Finally he made the announcement. Afterwards
T discoversed that what had happened is that his zipper had gotten
stuck, and they finally had to sew it closed so he could appear at
the ceremoeny . |Laughter] Heedless to say, Lhe newspapermen they
just listened through te, you know, "I will accept." And boom!
They were out of the room, leaving Lanham practically with an
empty press office there. But T watched him you know, That summer
one of my jobs was to take care of many of these politicians who

cama oveI=-=

WICEMAN: Now this, let's get this down.

WALTERS: --to bring pressure on him, and I don't think he really

made vp his mind till guite late.
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WICKMAN: You mean the sumner before?

WALTERS: Yes, the election was--yes, oh, well, it started really
right after he got to SHAPE. You know, this idea was taking hold,
but it hecame more acute in the autumn of '51 and the spring and
summer--the spring--of '52 because he left on May second. You KnowW,
they were all coming up, and they obviously knew he didn't want to
talk aboont it. and you could see the roundabout ways, you know, of
lavnching the subject. You could see the roundabout ways. They'd
say, "Well, anybody who enjoys broad consent--dees he really have
the shligation regardless of his personal inclination," you know,
to do this, that, and the other? I personally don't think he made
up his mind until guite late on it; T think he toyed with the idea
——at the end of the war. I mean there was the precedent of Grant,
a commander-in-chief. I'm not saying that there was a comparison
or anything, but I just--you know he liked his privacy. 2nd I think
he realized how much of it he would lose-—-although he'd lest so
mich of it alrsady by virtue of this—--; but he realized he'd lose
even more in virtue of that. &and then, he always, you knhnow--one
thought that always came back is that "Mamie and T have newver had

a home. You know, we'wve moved, and moved, and moved, and moved,
and moved, and moved, and moved, and moved." And he realized this
would proleng even further the period in which he wouldn't actually
have a home of his own even though he might be living in one of the

larger ones in the country. [L.aughter]
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WICEMAN: One of the hetter staffed ones.

WALTERS: One of the better staffed ones, yes.

WICEMAN: Well, when he went--

WALTERS: You know he was a very friendly man, but in his intimacy
ha was a—-I don't know how to guite put this in words. He liked
neople very much:; He was a ygregariocus man; he liked people. But

he had a sort of inner perimeter, and the number of people who

game into that perimeter was relatively limited--if T can put it
that way. With his intimacy he was relatively limited. He had
really two phases of perimeter around him. I mean he allewed

many more pecple in the outer perimeter than most public figures
do, but a relatively small number in the inner perimeter of the
thing==you know, in close intimacy with a close part of his life,
you know, and zo forth. Ewven I recall once when he was president,
I went up; and he was in his underwear. Well, you know, the number
of people that——he said, "Come in." I didn't walk in. He sald to
me, "Well yeu're doing something or other." And he was in his
underwear. Well, I mean the number of people that he would do that
to was relatively limited, And I think one of the reasons why he
used me, for instance, in his translations and so forth was that he
was used to me: it wasn't a further stranger being intruded on to
his privacy. In other words; he ¢ould easily have gotten other

pecple to do this for him. I mean there were a lot of people that



Gen. Vernon Walters, d4-21-T70 Page 58

speak all these langvoages and so forth; but it would have meant
letting one further person inside that perimeter, which was a form
af his own privacy. Again, as I get back to.

He was a great decdler you know. I have a couple of his doodles.
Even in conferences he would doodle endlessly. And then sometimes--I
have a couple of changes ha'd make in a speech. You know, he'd make
the speech in English. And then while I was translating, he'd want
te change some part of it; so he would scribble it on a plece of
paper and hand it to me. And then when I got to that part of the
speech, I had to give cut the second version. And somebtimes scomeone
would say to me: "¥You didn't translate at all what he said.” I

said, "But I did what he told me he said!" [Laughter]

WICKMAN: This is a guestieon I've been--1 have to jump arcund too
while I think of it--but the guestion that does freguently come up
is this: did the general have any facility in French or any other

language bhesides English?

WALTERS: No, he freguently complained bitterly of it. You know,
he used to complain to this to such a peint [that] I said, "But,
General , "--one day I said to him when he was complaining about
this--"Buot," I said, "General, the facility with languages will
get you a job as head waiter or a courtier in some big hotel. You

have been amply compensated in othezr areas." He grinned, and he

langhed.
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WICKMAN: 1T was just wondering because--

WELTERS: He used to often mention that. I think it =sort of puzzled
him. He was a modest man, but he was not unaware of his gifts in
many fields. And this genuinely puzzled him: how he could have
lived in France for two years and not learned French was something

that genuinely puzzied him.

WICKMAN: Yes, so it would appear to [inaudibkle].

WALTERS: Yes, I mean, it's common. There's no real large American
community and no PX, and the Embassy had twelwve pecople in it and
things like that. He was much more immersed in the French community
than somebody living here now would be or sven in the time when
SHAPE was here or something like that. And I think he was genuinely
a little puzzled about this. He used to say, "I have a block where
languages are concerned." And, in fact, in one of his books in
discussing me he made some mention of this or something or other;

he made some reference to this, But as I once toeld him, I =aid,
"General, the languages will get you a job as a head waiter or a

courtier but," 1 said, "you've been amply compensated in olther areas.®

WICKMAN: 0Oh, dear. Let's see, I have some other point. He went
back to=-=May 2nd--went back to the United States to rum for the

presidency. What 4id yvou do then?
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WALTERS: I stayed at SHAPE. 1 stayed at SHAPE through Ridgway and
Gruenther, and I came back to the--1I teld you I was sent for [or the
Bermuda Conferenca. &And then I came back here, and had a bad
accident, I broke my leg. In fact, I was in a cast for two years,
and I went to Geneva either in a cast or I had a steel brace on my
leg--one or the other. T remember in Geneva we went into a store;
and he went to buy some dolls for his grandchildren; and he didn't
have any money; and I had to pay for the deolls. We were coming back
to the Bhone Hotel, and all of sudden he just said, "I'm going into
that store,” you know. And so the panic of the Secret Service and
everything else, and he just walked inte the store. And he fooled
around, and he bought some dolls for his granddaughters, you know.
Suddenly he put his hand in his pocket, and he said, "Has anybody
got any money--Swiss money?" And I said, "Yes, I do." And I paid
for them; I was, of courss, reimbursed.

You know, ancther thing, I mean this may not be the most

favorable thing in the world, but I noticed that I worked for
General [George C.] Marshall too--and I'm trying to:phrase this
right so I don't say it wrong--therse was a sort of awe in both men
for anybody who made, himself, a great, great deal of money. I
think this arose from the fact that they spént their whole liwves

in the Army and sven when they went through the ceiling that existed
when they came into the Army, that is, became five-star generals

and advanced to the new grade, that they still earned relatively sa
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little money compared to somebody, you know, who is esarning 250,
350, 400 thousand dollars a year. There was a sort of awe--a little
bit of an awe--not for the man but for the fact that this type of
thing was possible.

He was always concerned--you know, they had lifted this thing
about the military-industrial complex out of its "context"; if they
would read the whole speech, they would see. But I know one thing
he was bothered about in France was the relatively low position of
the military in naticnal life. You know, he'd go to some town,
and there would be about eighteen people cutranking the local
general. and he used to talk to Jules Mech about this, the French
defense minister who was a socialist. And, of course, he used to
have arguments with him about God, too, which were very interesting.

I've read Moch's book called, Encounters with Eisenhower [Rencontres

avec Darlan, Eisenhower], and, of course, the purposs is to make

Moch look goed. But they used to have arguments with him. #And Moch
once said to him, "Oh;" he said, "in my constituency almost nohaody
believes in God." And Eisenhower looked at him and said, "Do you
think that's a good thing?" And you know, there was a little thing
on that. And, of course, Eisenhower used to talk about, you know,
the non-material values; and this was really--used to sort of puzzle
Mpch, who sort of wondered, "Am I facing Billy Graham or the Allied
Commander?” You know this was Moch's view of us, Moch taking a very

cynical view about all such things. And he said to him--and Moch
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said, "Well, our precedence is set from so and sa." And he was
very concerned about the pay of many of the nations, you know, who
were at SHAPE because they earned so little compared to Americans.
nnd he brought great pressure to bear on many of the countries to
do something about this, and many of them did because of this. In
fact, this is how he conceived the whole idea of the SHAPE vwillage.
One of the things that disturbed him at SHAPE was the difference
in the standard of living of the American personnel and other
personnel. You know, a Greek colonel I mean would earnm about the
equivalent of an American corporal, and the result is that Lthey

lived totally-——

WICKMAN: How did he become aware of this disparity? Do you know

what-=

WALTERS: I'm not sure how he actually became aware of it, but he
did. Whether he became aware of it through the all-seeing eye of
General Gruenther, you know, who would sort of tell him this or
whether=-. I don't think he went out that much for him to be
aware of, you know, from his own personal observation, but he was
a very perceptive man, you know. Many times T wonld think I was
giving him some news about something, and he would say, "Ch, yes,
I know." I don't know how he knew, but he was Vary perceptive.

He always appeared to be on this high level, but he was very aWare

of a lot of material things that were happening arcund him. And
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he had a great ability when somsone was talking to retain what they
were saving even if he didn't stop them and ask for re-emphasis.

T was surprised at this many times. Seomecne would say gomething in
a conversation; and he'd refer to something they just touched on;
and I'd say, "Oh, did yeu notice that, General?" "Oh, yes," he
zaid, "I noticed it." &And I had thought it was something that would
net interest him at all, but he'd bring it in. And he conceived
this idea of SHAPE village where pecple would be housed, broadly

speaking, on the basis of rank and the number gf rchildren they had.
WICKMAN: Much like the Army in the United States.

WALTERS: Yes, so that, you know, a Greek colonel lived just as
well as an American colonel. He felt that this disparity in living
standards produced frictions that he did not want. And he conceived
this idea of SHAPE willage, and he conceived the idea of -a SHAPE
school where all these kids would go to schecl. Different nation-
alities would go together. He thought this would be a lesson in
telerance, and he pushed these very hard. And these were financed
largely by the French government in a difficult budgetary time for
the French; and if they came to be, it was in a large part because
he sgueezed the lggal authorities to do it. He felt that vou
conldn't really have a harmonious headquarters when people of the
same rank were living in totally different conditions. Most of

the trips that I'd go around with him he'd bring up this guestion
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with the other people and say, "You've simply got to do this. If
you don't do this, you will get second class pecople; and you can't

afford second class people.”

WICKMAN: That's a very good point because it's carrying on with

the same philesophy from SHAEF.

WALTERS: But it also ecarries on, vou see, the terrifiec thing that
always struck me about General Eisenhower: his understanding of
pecple. HNo matter how high he got, he was always aware of this
Faet: that if you had five people stacked in two rooms, this wasn't
a good situation. I mean he had twenty rooms, yes, but a lot of
People when they get twenty rooms forget what it's like to live in
two rooms. He did not. He was enormously aware of people.

I don't think General Eisenhower would have been totally happy
in the computer age simply because he thought people were the fund-
amental governing factor in everything. T still do, computer age
or no computer age. This is cne of the }Eaﬂﬂns why T think I felt
gsuch an affection for him. He was so considerate of peoplse. I'm
trying to think of some example of this, but it was &o much a part
of his nature, you know, that it didn't strike me when he d4ig it
after awhile because he just was considerate of people. In all the
association I had with him I never saw him in any way ever humiliate
anybody, no matter how humble or how low, you know, or really call

anybody down in front of anybody else, with the one exception of
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this Gruenther episode I teld you about. Why he sat me down I don't
know because he could have done it perfectly well alone.

Thexre's one other thing that he laughed at himself that I'm
trying to remember, one episode. It'il come back to me in a minute;:
maybe not right this minute; but it'll come back te me in a minute.
No, I think he was a man who had an intense feeling for people.

He liked people. He was a very gregarious man although he liked
his privacy when he went home and so forth., When he could lunch at
SHAPE, you know, he liked to have people in: He'd rotate pegple so
he could get everybody from every tnatlonality in and talk to them.
And, as I say, you know, he always had this aura around him. I
mean it's more difficult for Americans to understand. To Americans
he was their leader abread, but to Burcpeans he was the Liberator.
And this was always around him no matter what he did.

I can remember when he came to Paris--1 guess it was '57--,
and we had decided to give some weapons to the Tunisians who were
in bad thing with the French or something at that time. And there
was some concern about, you know, what his reception would be like.
It was just fantastic even through those "red" suburbs of Paris.

I mean it was tremendous, tremendous.

WICKMAN: That's another subject we can teuch on: the Algerian
crisis that France had--the reaction to this--because this again

would be a problem for him.
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WALTERS: Yesg, well, I don't think he felt as strongly about anti-
colonialism, let me say, as the State Department did. ©On that
interview that I told you about that thing with General De Gaulle
——when De Gaulle said to him, "You and I are both going ko be called
to run our countries"-—they went into the back; and they sat there;
and they talked. I have never discussed this with anybody about
various things--about, what were the things--that Americans did in
France that irritated the PFrench. &and one little episode was, you
know, in France the law says that all headlights must be yellow.
And Americans would bring their cars in, and they wouldn't change
the headlights. And De Gaulle said to him, "One of the things
that--you know, you have all these cars here that don't comply with
our legislation." De Gaulle was not in the government yet, but in
France you're supposed to have yellow headlights. And all these
cars were running around with white headlights. General Eisenhower
said; "I can see that."” And he turned to me, and he said, "What
coler headlights do you have on your car?" And I said, "White,
General." He said, "They'll be yellow this afternceon, wen't they?"
I said, "¥Yes; sir."™ [Laughter]

Another thing De Gaulle said te him——one of the things he did
--and this is ironic in view of the fact that De Gaulle was the one
who ultimately abandoned Algeria--but De Gaulle made a great plea
at that time for the French colonies: you know, that the presence

af France wWas necessary until they could educate these people and
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bring them to a level where they could govern themselves and so forth
and so on. And cne of the things that De Gaulle--you see Eisenhower
by this time had announced that he was going home to acceplt the
nomination, that at least in his case it was fairly clear that thare
was a high percentage of probability that he would Be the next
president. And De ‘Gaulle said, "Cne of the things that bothers us

is that your consulates are absalute havens for all the independence,
anti-French leaders." And De Gaulle implied that we were stirring
up some of this independence feeling, which was a widespread feeling
in France at that time and it still is in many cases. And De Gaulle
said in the course of that, “"You know a great many Americans live
under the illusion that George Washington was an Indian chief who
drove out the British colenialists. As you well know this is
historic fiction. He was the leader of the ecolons, the settlers,

who drove out the metropolitan governmant and lackad up the Arahbs

on reservations." [Laughter]

Eisenhower said to him, "I give you my word if T become president,
we will do nothing to aggravate your burden: but you must understand
that we cannot prevent our consuls from talking to people. That is
a function of a consulate, Your consulates talk to peopla: our
consulates talk to people." That seemsed to satisfy De Gaulle in
that respect. I think he was basically conservative in this respect.

I think he thought that eventually people would accede to self-

government, but I don't think he was one of those who felt it had
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to be that afternoon. I think that he felt they were forming an
elite and eventually would, you know, create people that could

govern themselves. I don't think General Eisenhower-—-and again

now this is my opinion of his wviews rather than guoting him--I

don't think Eisenhower was an advocate of the return to the Greek
city-state, that is, eof independence for everybody in ever increasing
=mall states like Barbados and Jamaica and Antigua and all of this
business, He was a very strong supporter, as you know, of unity in
Europe. I mean he was one of the driving forces, and he was very
disappointed when the EBuropean Defense Community didn't work. In
fact I personally had a peculiar session on that with Douglas
MacArthur II who was, I beliewve, at that time the counsel of the
State Department. After General Eisenhower became president, he
[MacArthur] came over hera; and he asked me, "Is this going to pass?"
and I said, "Ng." And I said, "It can't pass.” I said, "All you've
got to do is a mwathematical problem. You look at the French Chamber
of Deputies. The Socialists are against it; the Communists are
against it; and the Gaullists are against it. That's more than

half the French Chamber of Deputies." MacArthur said, "The president
caid he'd relieve any American officer who said that." And T said,
"Doug, any American officer whe said that publiely should be
relieved; but when you as the counselor of the State Department

ask me my private view as someone who has lived in France for a long
time and I can't tell you the facts, we're in trouble." 5o that I
don't think this is exactly what he said. I think he wanted to

Enow the real answer.
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But he |[Eisenhower] was very disappointed. He censtantly kept
talking to the Furcopeans about this guestion of unity and, you know,
"why should 250 million Europeans be defended by 200 million
americans.” I mean he said, "You'wve got khe skills, you'wve got the
industrial capacity"--much more today, in fact, than they did then.
and he always held out the long-term possibility that the United Btates
would not stay forever and defend them. I mean he pressed them very
much to organize themselves so that they could bear the major part
of thizs burden. He did believe wvery much in "United Eurcpe." And
he was sometimes impatient, wou know, when they would give him this
-—I'yve seen him express a little impatisnce when they would give him:
"th, well, there's two thousand years of history." He said, "Yas,

but look what's staring you in the facel™

WICKEMEW: There's that reality again.

WALTERS: Yes; again, exactly. The reality, the pragmatism, rather
than the dreamy rather than the dream world. Yes, it'd be nice to

have been--I remember once some Frenchman was giving him this thing
of "We must never furl the battle flags of Bouvines and Rusterlitz.®
He said, "Yeah, but yvou may not have any flags at all to fly or furl

if you don't do something about this."

I Interruption]
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WALTERS: Speaking of Governor Harriman, of course he was a great
bridge player tos. And when he was here for Lhe "Wise Men" exercise
an MATO, which is a review of what should be done in the military
and economic field-—-in which General [Andrew J.] Goodpaster was his
military assistant as a full colonel they used to go out and play
bridge at Marnes—-la-Coguette with Marshal Juin, who used to be a
mamhar of that expaedition too--General Gruenther, General Eisenhower,
Marshal Juin, Mr. Harriman. And I remember he said one night—-I
don't know how I was there--he said, "Well, Ike;" he said, "if you
accept the Republican nomination and you run and the Democrats
nominate somebody I can support like Adlai Stevenson, I'm going to
campaign against you." And General Fisenhower said, "Well, of
course,; Averell.™ He said, "That's the dempcratic way.” You know,
there was just one little exchange on that.

And on that, l=t me see whether there were other episcodes of
that type. There were--ng; no, many of these political figures
that came over were sort of varied, almost frenzied on getting him
to run. They would tell me, you know, "Do everything you can to
convinoce him that he should run" and se forth. And I said, "I can't
talk to him about something like this. I don't have that kind of a
relaticnship with him." In fact, the nearest I ever came to discussing

that sort of thing with him was the New Hampshire primary.
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WICKMAN: When he was at SHAPE, was Bedell emith the opneg whom he
relied on for this kind of very close ceonfidence--someone ha could

ralk to-—=Gruenther ocr--

WALTERS: Well, Gruenther, of course. I mean Gruenther was as cloese
to him as anybody. &And, of course, when he was president, I think
andy Goodpaster was probably as close o him as anybody. 1 presume

yvou've secen him or will see him.

WICKMAN: Yes. We haven't done tape on General Goodpaster.

WALTERS: In my opinion the two last years of General Eisenhower's
presidency--with the exception of Mrs. Eisenhower-—no cne in the
world was closer to him than Andy Goodpaster. T den't think

historically pecple realize--

WICKMAMN: No, this is guite true; they don't. This is something
I've realized only belatedly and only because the General and I

got to talking about it once--back in '67 I think.

WALTERS: His admiration for Goodpaster was enormous. The last time
I saw him, a month before he died, he said he would recemmend to

Mr. Mixon that he make him supreme allied commander for two years
and then chairman of the joint chiefs of staff. I remember even

to me, you know, he used to talk about Goodpaster with enormous

admiration.
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WICKEMAN: I wonder if that was--I met General Goodpaster--—

WALTERS: He was very withdrawn and hard to get to talk. I don't
know how much you'll get out of Goodpaster. 1 wizh you great luck

with this.

WICEMAN: This is what I was wondering., I was wondering whore ha

and Ceneral Eisenhower got this rapport.

WALTERS: &s far as I know, they got it at SHAPE. Gruenther had
plcked out Goodpaster early, and Goodpaster came over here in
Dacember of '50. And really he [Goodpaster] had about Five people.
He had the wvery Iirst, "advancest" detachment, and, of course, he

has an enormous mind.

WICKMAN: ©h, yes, yes. There's no guestion about that. I was

just wondering if--

WALTERES: I think what Eisenhower Was attracted to in Goodpaster
was the tremendous mental capacity, the tremendous balance, and

the tremendous self-effacement. He never attempted to use his
relationship with General Eisenhower. In fact that for two years
he could be the closest man in the countxry to the: president without
anybody realizing it--. And, of course, Eisenhower I think was
conscious of this "military" business at +he heginning of it, you
know. This was the reaction from World War 1T when the military

socupied an enormous pedestal. He was Very cautious about this
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emphasizing, you know, Goodpaster's presence there. This was always
underplayed and not much talked about. 1t was always Andy Goodpaster
and never General Goodpaster; and he was always in civilian clothes
aven on official ogccasions. I never saw him in uniferm the whole

time he was in the White House.
WICKMAN: Wery interesting. That's a peint toa.

WALTERS: And Bisenhower was not particularly frightened of uniforms,
1ike many people are, you know. At SHAPE he always wore a uniform.
and in Fact he was the one that established the practice that at
SHAPE everybody would wear & uniform, unlike in the Pentagon where
most people wear civilian clothes. I think he did not feel that a
uniform--as some of opur friends in the State Department think--is
necessarily a red rag te a bull to most people. And I think he

understood profoundly the psychelogical need for the wisible

american presence in Europe in those years. But I don't know what

the exact--but Goodpaster had an unparalleled access to him.

WICKMAN: Well, I stumbled on to this only because in his post-
presidency they maintained thiz. And General Goodpaster Was very,
very close in advising him. Again, this is something that, you
know, history doesn't know. It's almost impossible to record.

We got to a point where we had a particular problem to work out,
and it involved some people. I was coming te Wwashington, and

GCeneral Eisenhower told me to 4o see General Goodpaster down at
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the War College. I began to get that naturally through his inter-
view, you know, that the Goneral knew a great deal about what was
going up at Gettysburg that he ecouldn't have known unless he was

the GQeneral's confidant. That's an interesting point.

WALTERS: I would say after that that John Foster Dulles~-—nobody
in tHe U.S. Covernment was closer to General Eisenhower. T aente
say he didn't have personal friends like General Gruenther, but in
the government I don't think anybody--with the possible exception

of his son--had this kind of closeness with him.

WICKMAN: General Eisenhower always seemed to prefer to work Lkhat
way too. There was always one persan. Thera were a few; a very

limited numbear.

WALTERS: Oh, ves, several. I said two, for instance. There were
more than twe. fThers was one periphery of general closeness where
he didn't mind people Beeing him in his shirt sleeves and his under-
wear, and then there was an even closer periphery~--which maybe was
oeccupied over a period of time by Bedell Smith, Alfred Gruenther,
and Andy Goodpaster--with whom he really let himself go because he
figured they had no political ambitions and so forth and would never
use anything he told them or said Lo them to advance themselves
politically. &And I think this inner pariphery consisted of these
three people. I'm not talking about his family life or anything,

but I'm talking about in his contact with the world. There was
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this inner periphery of these three. Maybe there was somebody 2lse
that doesn't immediately come EBo my mind. Probably Mr. bDulles was
in there pretiy clase--although I once had awkward situation with
nulles. The president had told me shat when I wrote a memorandum
of a conversation for him, it was not to be given to anybody antil
he had initialed it. And one day at White Sulphur Springs, where
he had been meeting with the president of Mexico and prime minister
aof Canada, I was in my underwear in my room when John ¥oster Dulles
opened the door and came in and said, "Give me that memorandum on
the President's talk with the president of Mexico." And T said,
"Mr. Secretary, this puts me in a Very awkward position. TI'm @
lieutenant colonel, and you're the Secretary of State. But I must
tell you the President directed me specifically that I was to give
*his to no one until he had initialed it, and I am bound by Ehis. "
"A11 right." And he walked out. and I was gquite, you know, concerned
2= to how he had taken this. And I must say the next day when I saw
him, he callesd me ovVer; and—--pulles, this is--and he egid, "I want
to thank you. You did a fine job for us." &and I knew then that he
had upderstoed and forgiven me. But General Eigenhower Was Very
strict about that. And actually the real relecase was glven to me
by Goodpaster. You know, he'd say, "The President has noted that.

You can give it out to somebody . "

WICKMAN: Bid you have many epeasions £o work for Dulles?
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WALTERS: HNot too many. At these various conferences, of course,

he'd be there-—at Bermuda, at White sulphur Springs. 1 think
iChristian A.] Herter Wwas at+ Ceneva. That sort of thing. I recall
sne extraordinary incident with pulles--and both Dulles and the
Presigent. I think it was President [Arturo] Frondizi of argentina
who was on & state wisit to the United States, and there was a

dinner at the White House. General [KWathan Farragut] Twining, who

was then the chairman of the joint chiefs, caught my eye and called
me. And I went over to him, and he gave me a note. He gaid, "Give
this Lo the President."” And I walked over to the President with 1it,
and I handed it to him. He looked at it, and he said, "Show it to
Foster." So I walked over to him. And he showed to me--the

president showed it to me and what it said. Tt was from the commander
of the Naval Air Station at Argentia, Wewfoundland: and best as I
remember, it said something like this: "At 2018 tonight the atr-
liner"--I don't know whether it was KIM or 3JAS, 4 scandinavian

airline--"ecarrying Anistas Mikoyan and his party made a forced

landing at this air field with one engine on fire, another pngine
stopped. We are taking care of Lhem and nobody's injured." 2&nd the
President showed it to me to read. You know, he held it up in
position for me to read it, and he said, "Show it to Foster." And

1 took it over to Mr. Dulles, who had had his first operation
already--you know, he knew he had that--, and he looked at it. He

looked up at me, and he gave one of his wintry smiles. He said,
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"Mow maybe Mikoyan weon't be disturbed by all those U.5. bases spread
around the world.” [Laughter] Wow that's something nobody else
will tell you because he said it to me, you know: I mean there was
no one else there. Yes, but he would have that ironic~-—.

This same wvisit I remember Frondizi told the President that
he was the son of a railroad woarker and his father was an Italian
immigrant who had come to Argentina. He said, "I have eleven
brothers and sisters, and", he said, "you can tell the progress of
the railroad by where they were bern"--you know, further and further
up the railrpad. &And he said, "You know, it is an extraordinary
thing that I am the son of a poor Ttalian immigrant sitting here at
the White House with the President of the United States and who is
ceneral Eisenhower." And how proud--he said this to General Eisenhower.
and afterwards he [Eisenhower] commented to me. He said, "How
remarkable that this man would say a thing like this even if he
really felt it." You know, he 1iked that, that the guy said this
very frankly to him.

He liked Frondizi also. When he went to Argentina, I remember
he was guite moved. His last place in argentina was Bariloche in
the south where he went fishing, and he didn't catch anything.

And when he came back, the newspapermen all clambered around and
said, "He's neot well, is he? He Gacsn't loak well, does he?" And
I said, "No, he's perfectly all right. He just didn't c¢atch anything”

[Laughter] And in one of the great fish streams of the world, you
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know! And I remember as we 1aft Bariloche there was a ceTemony,

and the president of Argentina made & speech, you know, Farewell.

and he [Eisenhower] made a spech. and then the Argentines played
t+he national anthem, and everybody-—including the soldiers that
present arms, the avndience, the Argentine neWwspaperhen, and President
Frondizi--sang it. And he was gquite taken with that. BEven the
president, who was standing alongside of him, sang it.

i'm trying to remember Some episodes of the Panama conference.
you know, I was there with him when he came down. He had just been
operated on. The wound was svill draining on that abdominal
operation that he thad when he came. ©Oh well, yes, I can remembar
sne from that. As a matter of fact, that just reminds me af bwo.
There was a mesting of the American presidents in Panama--1'm sure
you can find this historically--, and there was to be a session,
an afterncon session, where each of the presidents was going to
make a very brief statement. and they had teld them, "Look,
General Eisenhower has just recovered from an operation. Don't
make this long." And the president of Argentina got up and spoke
for Five or for four minutes; and the president of Brazil got up
and spoke for three minutes; and the president of Chile spoke for
two minutes. Somebody else got up and spoke for a tremsndous period
of time., Some of the presidents of the small countries launched
into the most tremendous diatribes. This whole thing was scheduled

to last an hour. It iasted Four hours. And he sat there in this
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courtyard of the President's Palace in Panama, and, of course,
everyhody was looking in terror, vou know. And caneral [Howard]
Snyder was locking at him, and he szaid, "He's all right; he's all
right; he's all right."” And I could see he wasn't interested, 50
T stopped translating the diatribes. I translated the three minutes.
I was sitting right behind him you saee. 1 translated the two oOr
three minute speeches. But 1 remember this fellow [Tose Marial
valasco Tharra--who is right now president fer the Tifth time of
Ecguador. He was the president-elect, and he was one of the last
people to speak. And he caid, "I know that this was dragged out
much longer than it should have, and therefore T will be very brief.”
Forty minutes later he was still talking, and General Eisenhower said
to me, "If he's being brief, I wonder what ha would be like if he
weren'ti" [Laughter] Bat he lasted to everyone's surprise and he
lasted through it. It was oultrageous. It lasted four hours.

another time I remember when Marshal [Jean] de Lattre de
Tassigny died, who had commanded the First French Army under him
duripg the war. He died. e had besn high commissioner in Indo-
China, and he had lost his son there and so forth. and he came back,
and he died. He came back from Indo-China, and he died her=. In
fact, I'm having lunch with his widow on Friday. The French
government chose this occasion to have the £irst really big military
cerpmonies since the end of World War TI-—-1 suppose, you know, to

raise the national spirit and everything. They had a tremendons
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ceremony at Notre Dame, and then they were going to walk in a
procession from Notre Pame to the Invalides behind the body.
and they asked General Eisenhower bo be one of the--I don't know
what it's called in English; they have a little cordon, you know,
from the cafisscny and you held it. Sort of a pall bearer, but not
1ike a funeral procession in the United States in that you actually
hold on to semething. And they did.

on there was an argument within SHAPE as to whether he should
da it or not, and everybody was saying, “gh, no, General, it's
going to be very cold; and it may rain; and it may this, that, and
she other.” And he heard them through, and everybody told him he
shouldn't do it. I felt strongly that he sheuld, but I hadn't
gotten to speak my piece yet, you know, for the whole relationship
of the French. and finally he looked at them, and he said, "Well,
don't you think this is the least thing I can do for an old comrads
in arms?" BAnd that was the end of the discussion.

8n he walked from Notre Dame, which was a hecok of a long——1it
was about a four mile walk. &nd when we got Lo the Invalides, 1
got to sit in the grandstand; but he was atanding out theres by the
coffin while Mr. [Rene] Pleven, who was the minister of defense,
spoke for forty-five minutes. Then he went into the chapel of the
Invalides where the body was to lie in state, and that's where I
finally caught up with him. and he was sitting there, and I said,

"General, are you still alive2?" He said, "Yes, but only just!"®
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Again, there was that human feeling. Again, I had -a feeling
‘hat he falt that he hadn't given de Lattre [de Tassigny] guite as

much place in Crusade in Eurcpe as he should have. I mean I heard

him once Ealk about that--you know, the [inaudible] thing. He did
not give him guite as much place as he should have in the Crusade

in Furope, and this in a way--a little way of making up for it.

WICKMAN: Yes, yes. You brought something to my mind which we
really ought to get on here. When you translated for him-—you know,
technically, mechanically--how did you do this? You said at one

point that you sat behind him at this meeting--

WALTERS : Yes,

WICKMAN: Did you type up, were you writing.simultaneously, or--

WALTERS: &h, there were two kinds: in small meetings it was
simultanecus; in the big meetings it was consecutlive. And some-
times there was eguipment provided. You know, I was in the cabin
and translating in the cabin. 8o there were three ways of doing it.
ife did not really like simultaneous. It saved an awiul lot of time,

but it distracted his thinking.

WICKMAN: I see. That's interesting.
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WALTERS: In meeting alone with the chiefs of state it would be
consecutive. At the Geneva Conference I was sitting at the table;
it was consecutive., And that's how he could pass me these notes
and say, "Change what I said to sn-and-s6." But he did not like
the consecutive. He'd accept it sometimes simply in the interest

of saving time.

WICKMAN: Did not like consecubive?

WALTERS: Did not like the simultaneouns.

WICKEMAN: Simultansous.

WALTERS: He did not like the simultanecus. Correction. It sort
of disturbed his sort of analysis process as he went along and

listened to what the man said.

WICKMAN: Then when yon would get in the situation where he was

alone with someone you had three of you.

WALTERS: That would be consecutive, no. Where it would be
simultaneous is if there were a lot of people, you know, and there
was considerable talking going on and it really would have taken

sa long. But I would then sometimes condense it for him.

WICKMAN: I just thought that one little thing that's gotten away

from everybody.
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WALTERS: No, that was generally consecutive. That was genarally
consecutive. He liked that because, you know, it gave him time to
reflect on what was said. And again, as I say, if he felt he could
improve what he'd said, you know--particularly toward the end while

I was doing it--he'd say, "Well, change that to so-and-so, which
was very disturbing te me, incidentally, because you got . a tape
threaded, you know, and suddenly break it off and insert this and
then go on--guite a difficult mental process, sée, to dni I
habitually tried not to take notes because I found that frightened
people. In a big formal conference--sitting at a takhle--1 would
take notes. You know each party, answer and rebuttal, counter

rebuttal, and everything else. But with the chief of state T would

never take notes.

WICKMAN: Did you, did you ever do a--

WALTERS: I do for Mr. Nixon. He likes it, you know, to have it

word For word, but General Eisenhower didn't.

WICKMAN: Did vou, in a leng speech for example--what did you do?

He gave it, and then you--=

WALTERS: Well, this was sometimes very diffiecult to do. At the
Hotel de Ville here he spoke for eleven minutes one day without
stopping, and then I had to get up and repeat it. And T heard

the White House recording. The seguence isn't total, but there
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isn't any missing [Laughter]. Rather [inaudible]. So much so,

that when I walked back away from the microphone, General De Gaulle,
who spoke guite goeod English; locked at me. He was and he said,
"Wery good, Walters.," [Laughter] But, of course, it was easy for
me because what General Eisenhower told was the story of his
relationship with General De Gaulle which I'd heard before: 5o
really——-I mean he could have just started telling it and stopped,
and I could have gone on because I had heard the whale story of

this meeting with General De Gaulle.
WICKEMAN: Yas, I was wondering that--

WALTERS: He did not——incidently getting back to General De Gaulle
--General Bisenhower several times said to me that he felt that

Mr. Roasevelt had made z mistake and had antagonized General

De Gaulle unnecessarily. But it was fairly obwvious fairly soon
that he did represent the feelings of most French people, and

Mr. Roosevelt stubbornly insisted on trying to invent General
[Henri Honore] Giraud or samething else. And he felt that General
De Gaulle did have some complaint about the way he had been treated
by ns during the war. In fact this came up at that meeting sitting
around the chimney one night in the Rambouillet Castle here. And

I forget what it was, but General Da Gaulle had not bheen told. And
he said, "But I understood perfectly well that Mr. Eoosevelt had

instructed you not to tell me." And General FBisenhower nodded.
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WICKMAN: The burden of my guestion I guess was really whether if

he had a long spoech whether or not he gave an advance bext.

WALTERS: Never. Never. Well, that depends. At the formal speeches
for instance, in South America before the parliaments and that sort
of thing, yes, I would have one. AaAnd in the [inandible] Chile I had
a terrible experience because it was finally touched up so late that
they gave it td me and I only got about half of it translated. You
know, in a spaech before the Parliament I wanted to have it, if
possible, translated and read 1it, you know, so it would have the
same timing. And we had to go to the Chilean Congress when I only
had half of it translated, so I left the other half of tha speech in
Spanigh with somehody élse to translate it and he didn't get it to
me later. Well he [Eisenhower] delivered the whole thing all the
way through in English first, and I had started through in Spanish.
And I saw myself getting closer and closer to the end of what I had,
and I didn't hawve the other half, you know. Finally--it was like
the cavalry to the rescus at the last minute--I was in tha last
paragraph when somebody thrust the rest into my hand, but it was
handwritten and I had great difficulty reading the writing.

I remember one occasion earlier. He was reading a speech.
He read it, and he'd pause paragraph by paragraph. He did it either
aone ar the other, but in this one he paused paragraph by paragranph.

And he held it so I could see over his shoulder in English, which
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meant there was no method of memory. 1'd just read it in the other
language. And I remember I was, you know, guite distracted and
wasn't paying much attention because 1 knew I would be able to read
it when he stopped at the end of the paragraph. And I was looking
arcund and wandering and everything else, and all of a suddan he
read the last paragraph and folded the piece of paper and put it
back in his pocket, [Laughter] Buot I was fortunately able to

finish it. You know it was sort of a disconcerting---.

WICKMAN: On the twenty-seven nation tour were vou with him in khe

Philippines?

WALTERS: No. No, I did not go to the Far East with him.

WICHEMAN: HNot at all?

HALTEES: Mo, that was the only foreign trip I didn' t go on. SE8;
I didn't speak any of those languages there, so I didn't go. Let
me sea if there is anything else I can remember for you. He was
very happy here at Marnes-la-Coguette; you know. He mentiocned
several times this was the first time they had had a house where

they could settle down and everything. He liked it wery much.
WICKMAN: Which has now been sold.

WALTERS: Yes. He liked it wvery much; and, of course, it was

convenient to SHAPE and everything, you know,
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WICEMAN: He seems to have liked the whole SHAPE experience, reallw.
WALTERS: Well, as I told you—--.

WICKMAN: Ik was almost like a second-=-not a second chance--that's

not the right--but--=

WALTERS: Yes, well, somchbody said, "He stayed here twige.® Many
people have, you know, done this sort of thing once but rarely

hawve heen in it twice.

WICKMAN: Yes., I don't know how they would have got it off the

ground.

WALTERS: Yes, I mean the Atlantic Alliance didn't exist until he
came. It was a paper document without any reality until he came.
And 1f it had been anybody else; it would never have infused that
depth to it. I mean here it is--what--twenty-two years later!

I maan no alliance in the history of the world has lasted 1n an

effective, activated form like that.

WICEMAN: I wonder if there were other instances like the one
with the SHAPE wvillage. I mean, you know, little things that
he did that helped to smooth out this business or things that

he had done to aven frictiens between the pnationalities invalwved.

WALTERS: Well, wvou know, you'we heard the famous story--the SHAEF

story=--about the guy who called somebody a British son-of-a-bitech.
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WICEMAN: Yes.

WALTERS: Well, he was wvery much that. Anybody who had trouble--
not in personality clashes but on national clashes--they went.

You know, anybody who didn't like Greeks or didn't like [inaudible]
--when that came to his attention;, and they didn't stay. He was
very intolerant of that kind of bigotry or intolerant natlonal

feaeling.

WICKEMAN: Which sensitivity in itself ig--

WALTERS: Which from a man from middle America was guite remarkable,
yes, [Laughter] You know in many ways he had more foreign
experience and had lived abroad perhaps more than any other American
president. In my opinion he was a more profoundly American president
than any of his predecessors or successcrs whom I knew with the
possible exception of Mr. Truman, who was profoundly American also.
Much more so, for instance, than Mr. Kennedy, who was really an
international cosmopolite, you know, who came abroad three or four
times a vear every year of his life, you know, and moved in the
cafe-set of Paris and sa forth. General Eisenhower really was from
middle America. A&And in the best and broadest sense of it, without
the narrowness and yet with the homely wirtues that are middle

America.
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I don't know. I would say, without boasting, I have been
associated with a number of these people in my life. They are
fairly common people. I mean I've done this for My, Truman; I
did it for General Eisenhower; I've done it for Mr. Nixon, both
as a vicé-president and as president; and I've accompanied ‘a large
number of foreign dignitarieés to the UUnited Stabea of America.
I've translated for Sir Winston Churchill, Genetral De Gaiulle.

In fact, I once translated between General D& Gaulle and
Chancellor Adenauer, which for an American is rather an unusual

experience.

WICKMAN: How did you get in that position?

WALTERS: Well, 4t was one of these guadripartite meetings, ‘you
know. De Gaulle just said to me as though it was the most natural

thing in the world, "Well, tell the Chancellor =se and so."

WICEMAN: Yes, I see.

WALTERS : S50 I teld the Chancellor so and so.

WICKMAN: And how with Churchill--that's the same thing?

WALTERE: Churchill was wvery funny. I remember at the Bermuda
Conference I was talking to [Joseph] Laniel, the prime minister
of France, and Churchill came up. And I knew he spoke some French,

so I moved away. Churchill bheckoned me back. I came back. And
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he said something. I translated it. And he turned and he locked
at me; and he said, "You have translated for me before. Where?"
And I said, "On the 25 of Rugust 1%44, Prime Minister, you came

Lo the Brazilian Expeditionary Force, and I translated yeour speech
to them." "That's right. Have a ecigar." [Laughter] #nd he went
on with it.

Let me remember something about General Eisenhower that I hadn't
-—naw which meeting am I thinking of--oh, the meeting was with
Ehrushchev, the U-2 meeting. I was present at that. And T think
one of the things that made an impression of General De Gaulle from
that was De Gaulle was absolutely magnifiecent at that meeting, and
frankly; he dominated it. Ehrushchev was storming, "I've beéen
overflown." De Gaulle said, "Sc have I." A&nd Khrushchev said,
"Yes, by your American allies." And De Gaulle said, "Ne, by you."
Khrushchev said, "Me?" De Gaulle said, "Yes. Eighteen times
yesterday that satellite you launched before this conference began
overflew the sky of Prance without my permission. How de I know
you do not have a camera aboard that?" And Khrushchew raised his
hands, looked up piously at heaven, and said in Russian, "God zees
me, my hands are clean. You don't think I would put & camera on
that?" And De Gaulle said, "And [with] what did vou take those
pletures of the farside of the moon you showed us with such pride?®
And Ehrushchev said, "Oh, on that we had a camera." "Uh-huh," said

De Gaulle. "On that you had a camera."
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When Ehrushechev had finished with all this, De Gaulle turned
to him, and he said, "The day after the U=2 was shol down I sent
my ambassador to see you to ask you whether there would be any
point in hawving this econfersnce. You knew everything then that
youi Knew now.  And yet you have imposed conditions that the Fresident
of the United States cannot pessibly accept, and you know it. And
in Bo doing you have broucht Goeneral Eisenhower here from the
United States for nothing; you have brought the British prime minister
here for nothing; and you have put me to grave personal inconvenience.”
As we went out of the meeting--Khrushchev, as you know, stormed
out of the meeting and slammed the door--and as we went put, I
walked down the stairs with General Elsenhower and General De Gaulle
and myself--alone, the three of us. And on the landing De Gaulle
stopped, and he said, "I don't know what's going to happen or what
Mr. Ehrushchev is going to do; but I want you to know that whatever
happens, we are'with you to the end." MNobody else heard that. And
I think that also colored his feelings towards General De Gaulle.
I remember a meeting on Berlin., 1 don't know whather it was
the same ocecasion. It was a tripartite meeting: the British,
French and U.5. And the guestion arose as to what they would do
apout Barlin. Apnd both General Eisenhower and Mr. MacMillan spoke,
but 1t wasn't; frankly; totally clear to me whether we would fight
for Berlin or not. We would obviously view it as wvery grave, and

we would take the appropriate measures. General De Gaulle said,
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"I don't know whether you're going to fight for Bexrlin er net, but

I am. The only way they can get me out of there is by force."

And then he smiled, and he said, "And, frankly, if I fight, do you
really have any choice?" Which again was one of the colering things
of this relatienship with General Eisenhower.

General Eigsenhower felt that, yod know--he did not really
respect many of the French peliticians that he dealt with., They
were obviously conniving and trying to use him for advantage in
this jockeving of parties and everything else. and I think the
fact that De Gaulle never attempted to do any of this increased
General Eisenhower's respect for him. I would say that in a sense
he was almost closer to De Gaulle than anybody else who didn't
speak English among these foreign people with whom he dealt. As
I say, all the times that I saw him after I came here he always
asked me to give Genieral De Gaulle his warmest regards and so

forth, which I invariably did.

When General Eisenhower went to see the Pope it was a very
cordial meeting with Pope John. And at the end there was a joke
tolid. Well, they were letting the photographers in; and there
was a picture,; which I have somewhere here. The president roaring
with laughter; the Pope roaring with laughter; and I was standing
between them, and I was roaring with laughter. &And one of the

newspapermen came to me and ‘said, “That must have been a good joke."
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I =maid, "It was, a very good one." &and he said, "What was it?"

And T said, "I'm sorry, you've got to ask one of the participants
in the conversation." And he shook his finger in my face, and he
said, "The American people have the right to know." I said, "I
think so too; but I think they should exercise the right with the
participants in the conversation, not wikth me." 2And in the passage
of time the joke was simply this: The Pope said, "Well," he said,
"you know I have language problems." He said, "I speak French;

and I speak Bulgarian; and I speak fTurkish; but T don't speak any
English.” And General Eisenhower said, "Well, are you deing any=-
thing about it?" The Pope said, "¥es." He said, "I am." He said,
"Monsignor [James Fatrick] Ryan is giving me an English le=zson
evary day, but," he said, "I'm an old man, and I'm not learning
very fast." And the president said, "Well, how are you doing?"

The Pope =said, "Well, the more I study English, the more I realize

that Papal infallability doés not cover pronounciation.® [Laughter]

WICEMAN: Yery good.

WALTERS: At that same meeting incidentally I went in to the Pope.
And the President shook hands with him; John shock hands with him;
and Barbara shook hands with him: and==I can't remember whether it
was Herter or Dulles--the Secretary of State shook hands with him;

and I, being a ecard-carrying "fish eater," kissed the ring. And
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the Pope looked up, and he said, "Ah, one of ours.” [Laughter]
Geoneral Eisenhowsr--on that mesting with the Pope--he made sure
that everybody in his entourage, no matter how far down, who was
a Cathelic got in to see the Pope--even people who normally would
not have been with him, you know, on such a thing. If he knew

they were Catholies, they got into see the Fope.

[End aof Interviaw]
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